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vision
Through the provision of remarkable service we 

will be the preferred supplier of financial products 

and services to our Members.

mission
To improve the lives of the people of the ACT 

and south eastern NSW by providing access to 

equitable financial services.

values
Our values portray how we wish to be seen as 

an organisation and the qualities we pride as 

an organisation:

•	 we are respectful and courteous

•	 we are tolerant and supportive

•	 we are honest and open

•	 we are dependable and accountable, and

•	 we are prudent and ethical.



message from the Chair 
John Clarke

There’s no doubt the 2008/09 financial year was a 

difficult one for many organisations and SERVICE ONE 

Members Banking (SERVICE ONE) was not immune. 

Fuelled by the downturn in the global economy and 

other negative economic trends, the financial services 

sector was one of the hardest hit. Despite these 

economic conditions, sound management practices and 

a continued focus on Members has meant that SERVICE 

ONE remains in a strong position. 

Financial performance
In 2008/09, SERVICE ONE incurred a net loss of $1.42 

million. Measured on an underlying basis, SERVICE 

ONE achieved a profit of $1.18 million (down from 

$1.34 million in 2007/08). While the net result was 

disappointing, in large part it reflects a change in 

Australian Accounting Standards, which now require 

any change in the value of certain assets (in SERVICE 

ONE’s case interest rate swaps), to be brought to 

account as a profit or loss on an annual basis. 

Another significant factor was the need to protect 

Members’ funds at the height of the crisis, which saw 

SERVICE ONE take the decision to increase liquidity as 

a precautionary measure and ultimately resulted in us 

paying high levels of interest on Members’ deposits. 

Added to this, SERVICE ONE continued to provide relief 

to Members during the tough economic period by 

offering highly competitive lending rates, even though 

this impacted margins, limiting our capacity to earn 

interest on lending activities to offset the interest being 

paid on Member deposits.

Having said that, SERVICE ONE’s underlying profit, 

which is an accurate measure of our ongoing business 

activities, was largely in line with the previous year’s 

result. This underlying profit figure excludes items that 

may be considered unusual within the year, and as 

such, the underlying figure provides a more accurate 

assessment of SERVICE ONE’s ongoing business activities 

and a more reliable foundation for predicting future 

operating results.

Pleasingly, we achieved solid asset growth, with an 

overall increase of 5.5 per cent to $280,596,000 (from 

$266,074,000 in 2007/08). In an environment with 

increased competition for deposits, our deposits grew 

by 5.3 per cent to $253,643,000 (from $240,822,000 

in 2007/08) and our loan balances increased from 

$212,781,000 to $214,008,000.

Our Capital Adequacy Ratio, which is a measure of our 

capital strength, finished the year at 13.16 per cent 

which is above the Australian Prudential Regulation 

Authority’s (APRA’s) regulatory requirements. Our 

liquidity levels continue to ensure we can meet our 

financial obligations through the successful monitoring 

and projection of cash flows.

Importantly, SERVICE ONE’s bad debts have decreased in 

2008/09, reflecting our prudent lending practices, and 

total impairment losses on loans and advances reduced 

from $92,000 to $76,000.

While the financial result was weaker than that 

achieved in 2007/08, it does reflect the tough economic 

times of the past year. The state of the global economy, 

fragile consumer and business sentiment, a weaker 

housing market, and emerging and developing 

economic risks are impacting organisations across 
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the country. In addition, the significant pressure on 

margins, due to the mismatch between interest earned 

from our lending activity and interest paid on deposits, 

exacerbated SERVICE ONE’s position. SERVICE ONE 

Members should, however, remain confident about 

the security of our assets and the direction of the 

organisation, as we focus on longevity, sustainability 

and efficiency. 

The operating environment
There has been much media attention on the state of 

the global economy over the past 12 months. While 

I don’t wish to reiterate the dynamics that have led 

to this downturn (and continue to impact market 

recovery), I do want to highlight how we, at SERVICE 

ONE, have responded and are continuing to respond 

to this.

One of the main issues we face is rising operating 

costs; in addition to costs associated with regulation, 

compliance and technology, increased funding costs are 

one of the biggest threats to small-to-medium sized 

financial institutions. SERVICE ONE’s funding costs have 

been, and continue to be, impacted by the interest 

paid on deposits and the need to be competitive for 

our Members. Adding to our operating costs, we have 

maintained an extended Branch network – to be able to 

provide personalised services to our Members, but with 

this comes additional fixed costs. 

While many organisations are cutting back, we remain 

committed to investing in our organisation for the long-

term. But we are doing so responsibly. Aligning our 

Branch network to areas of growth and responding to 

market-driven needs has seen us improve our operation. 

Added to this, our business alliance with ActewAGL and 

TransACT has allowed us to share operating costs while 

providing Members with more services. While many 

organisations have shed staff during this period, we 

have proudly maintained our commitment to staff and 

have continued to employ in the communities in which 

we work and live. Throughout the year, we have also 

worked hard to identify areas to increase efficiency and 

improve the way we do business. We remain focused 

on these areas, aiming to work smarter, as we continue 

to position SERVICE ONE as a viable and competitive 

banking alternative.

Considering the challenges that remain, it is more 

important than ever to diversify the sources of our 

income. We have already made some considerable 

progress in this area and 2009/10 will certainly be 

a combination of realising the potential of existing 

arrangements and continuing to look for new 

opportunities.

our Board
At SERVICE ONE, we take a lot of pride in the sound 

frameworks we have in place and the diligence 

we demonstrate in discharging our duties and 

responsibilities. This solid operating foundation does 

not happen by chance – much work continues to 

go into ensuring we uphold our principles and the 

regulatory requirements expected from a financial 

services provider.

One of the integral components of our corporate 

responsibilities is a solid corporate governance 

program, which includes ongoing work by dedicated 

sub-committees, comprising members of the Board, 

to ensure we are operating efficiently, effectively, and 

legally in achieving our goals. More information on 

these committees and their roles can be found as part 

of the ‘Corporate Governance Statement’ on page 22. 

“… we remain 
committed to 
investing in our 
organisation for the 
long-term.”



As in previous years, members of the Board continued 

to develop their skills and competencies to enable us to 

effectively deal with issues facing the organisation. Our 

Directors have participated in industry forums and have 

made a strong personal commitment to growth and to 

providing responsible leadership to SERVICE ONE.

The 2008 election of Directors looked to fill two 

vacancies that opened on the Board. Ian Davis was 

re-appointed to the Board and we welcomed a new 

addition – Heather Nash. Heather is an experienced 

company Director, dedicated to the local community 

through her volunteer work, and has already brought 

much to the Board. At that time, Colin Smeal left the 

Board. Colin was an active contributor to the Corporate 

Governance Committee and Director Nominations 

Committee and added valuable insight to the Board. 

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank Colin for 

over 14 years of service to the credit union movement, 

firstly as a Director of the Hospitals Credit Union 

and his strong contribution (since February 2002) to 

SERVICE ONE. Earlier this calendar year, Ivan Slavich was 

appointed to the Board. Currently the CEO of the ACT’s 

own telecommunications provider, TransACT and Head 

of Retail for ActewAGL, Ivan brings with him strong 

commercial skills – honed in a particularly competitive 

environment. I know SERVICE ONE will benefit from 

Ivan’s insight and experience.

looking forward
Despite the difficult economic conditions, we are 

optimistic about the future of SERVICE ONE. One 

positive development as a result of the global 

financial crisis is that the subject of personal finances 

has been at the forefront of media coverage for the 

past 12 months. The economic downturn has forced 

many to consider their spending habits and to assess 

whether they have the right fit for their banking 

needs which can only be positive.

SERVICE ONE will continue to provide relevant and 

competitive banking solutions for Members, and 

provide these solutions in a responsible manner. We 

are approaching decisions with both the long-term 

sustainability of the organisation and the best interests 

of our Members in mind. While the economic outlook 

is improving, we will maintain our support of Members, 

as we have done in the past, and be there as Member 

needs change as markets recover.

Thank you
I would like to take this opportunity to thank the 

Board, staff and, of course, our Members for their 

ongoing support and loyalty. We understand times are 

tough for many Australians. I can assure you, the needs 

of Members are taken carefully into consideration 

when it comes to business decisions and it’s probably 

an opportune time to reinforce that the concept of 

‘Members before profit’ is still very much an integral 

part of our approach. 

Finally, thank you for your ongoing loyalty to SERVICE 

ONE and we look forward to a more prosperous year 

in 2009/10. 

John Clarke

Chair
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update from the Chief executive 
Peter Carlin

This past financial year has been a challenging year for 

most of us. In fact, of all the years I have been in the 

banking sector, I can’t remember another 12-month 

period that has been as fast-paced, uncertain or volatile 

as 2008/09.

At the end of the 2007/08 year most forecasters 

were expecting interest rates to rise and no one was 

forecasting the unprecedented four per cent drop 

which subsequently occurred. The consequences of 

those developments and responding to them have 

made the past 12 months a very challenging period 

for the financial services sector. Nevertheless, business 

goes on and we undertook a number of major projects 

specific to SERVICE ONE, resulting in 2008/09 being an 

extremely busy and productive period.

The turbulent times have meant that some of this year’s 

results haven’t been as good as previous years. We are 

fortunate, however, that the profits from those good 

years were sensibly put to reserves so that we were 

able to maintain very competitive interest rates for 

the benefit of Members without adversely affecting 

SERVICE ONE’s prudential position. One of the things 

that makes banking with SERVICE ONE different (along 

with other credit unions and mutual building societies) 

is the fact we do not have the pressure of exploiting 

depositors and borrowers simply to achieve profits 

for external stakeholders or to prop up share prices. 

We don’t make profits simply for profit’s sake and can 

take a longer term view. Our objective is to re-invest to 

improve services to our Members, and this has been our 

focus over the past 12 months.

Banking system conversion
At the end of 2008, we moved to a new banking 

system. As the system is integral to our ability to provide 

financial products and services, months of work went 

into preparing us for the conversion and we continue to 

invest in the system to ensure benefits can be passed on 

to Members. 

As a result of the conversion we have an improved 

ability to service Members’ needs and can offer 

increased functionality as part of our Internet  

banking, eLink. 

We are also in the process of exploring possibilities with 

product enhancements and other areas of innovation.

Despite best endeavours, an organisation cannot 

go through a change of this extent without some 

disruption to services. I would like to thank all Members 

for their patience and understanding during this period, 

and certainly our staff for learning the new system and 

helping to minimise the disruption for Members.

Continuing to support 
our members
This year the large banks received wide media 

coverage for offering to assist their customers 

experiencing financial hardship – interestingly, these 

practices have been a part of the way SERVICE ONE 

has been conducting its business for years. In a way, 

this highlights the fact that many Australians (and 

certainly some in the media) still don’t understand 

what credit unions do and how we differ from the 

large banks. For years, SERVICE ONE has adopted 

several approaches to help Members get back on their 
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feet. These include (but are not limited to) deferring 

loan repayments, an extension of the period of the 

contract (reducing repayments) and interest only 

breaks on loan repayments. 

Throughout the year, and as we have always done, 

SERVICE ONE consistently offered lower interest rates 

than many of our competitors. Despite the financial 

pressures which exerted themselves over the year, the 

Board consciously made the decision to maintain this 

interest rate policy to help Members through these 

difficult times. This action put significant pressure on 

margins as the lower level of interest income did not 

adequately off-set increases in funding costs, primarily 

the higher interest paid on term deposits. While this 

decision did reduce our end of year results, it benefited 

Members, and enabled some to get ahead on their 

loans and to reduce their loan repayments or other 

forms of debt, as well as providing higher returns for 

our depositors.

member satisfaction
In January 2009, we conducted our annual Member 

Satisfaction Survey. This survey revealed 93 per cent of 

respondents consider our Branch service ‘very good’ or 

‘good’ and 81 per cent consider our Internet banking 

service as ‘very good’ or ‘good’. 

The survey also revealed that the three most important 

attributes Members expect of SERVICE ONE include 

keeping banking simple, having empathetic staff 

and having helpful staff – pleasingly, the majority of 

Members told us that we are performing ‘very well’ or 

‘well’ in these areas. 

new approach to Branch 
service
Over the past 12 months, we’ve seen some 

developments in our Branch network. We opened a 

new Branch at the Brindabella Business Park at the 

Canberra International Airport. This Branch provides 

the only face-to-face banking services for thousands 

of employees within the airport precinct. We also 

conducted a review of our agency arrangement in 

Narooma and, after consultation with Members, 

reluctantly took the decision to close this service.

As part of our strategy to improve our offering to 

Members, we formalised a business alliance with 

ActewAGL and TransACT, which culminated in the 

opening of a new lifestyle store – 360o living. The store 

opened at The Marketplace, Gungahlin – an area where 

our Members told us they wanted Branch services. 

360o living offers Members the opportunity to access 

products and services from the three local organisations.

As we refurbish our other Branches, Members will 

notice a more open-plan layout, as adopted by both the 

Brindabella Branch and Gungahlin store.

Government guarantee 
on deposits
In response to an apparent loss of confidence 

in overseas financial institutions, the Australian 

Government acted quickly to guarantee all deposits 

held with Australian credit unions, banks and 

building societies. This means that all deposits (up to 

$1,000,000) held by SERVICE ONE are guaranteed by 

the Australian Government. 

seRviCe one accolades 
continue
In 2008/09, we maintained our five-star ratings with 

CANSTAR CANNEX for a number of our personal and 

mortgage lending products. In addition, we repeated 

our success of the previous year and were selected as 

a Finalist in the Personal Lender of the Year category 

(from a field including all credit unions, banks and 

building societies) as part of Money magazine’s 

Consumer Finance Awards 2009. We also scored 10th 

place in the Credit Union of the Year category – and 

considering 150 credit unions were judged as part 

of this award (many of these being much larger 

organisations), this was a great result. 



update from the Chief executive 
Peter Carlin

Late last year, SERVICE ONE was also acknowledged for 

our work with staff, by winning the 2008 Australian 

Business Award for Recommended Employer in our 

industry category. This award was incredibly rewarding 

as we’ve worked hard to build a culture where our 

team knows they are valued and respected. Our aim 

is to provide a supportive and stimulating workplace 

so we can encourage each of our team to grow both 

professionally and personally.

It is always satisfying to receive this sort of recognition 

from industry experts. These awards are national, 

judged independently, and to have our efforts 

acknowledged is testament to our committed team.

The year ahead
Before putting the last 12 months behind us, I would 

like to personally thank you for your ongoing support 

and thank our staff, for their tenacity and commitment 

over the past 12 months – it has been a tremendous 

effort. Now that the banking system conversion has 

been completed, the focus for us turns to maximising 

the system to improve efficiency, Member service, and 

product development and innovation. I am hopeful 

Members have noticed immediate benefits following 

the conversion and am confident these benefits will 

continue to be realised. 

We will also be turning our attention to maximising the 

potential of some other activities we have undertaken, 

including building the business through the Brindabella 

Business Park Branch and the 360o living store at 

Gungahlin. The impetus for establishing the business 

alliance with ActewAGL and TransACT also goes beyond 

the opening of a store – we now need to work through 

these additional opportunities and help further position 

our three local organisations as market innovators.

The coming months will also see us leveraging 

our financial expertise by working with selected 

organisations to assist them with payment solutions. 

This opportunity provides not only an additional 

revenue stream for SERVICE ONE but also an 

opportunity to demonstrate our capabilities and service 

offering to a broader segment of these communities. 

Although it is still uncertain whether the world 

economy has truly turned the corner, I am confident 

in the approach SERVICE ONE is taking, enabling us to 

provide a secure, relevant and unique experience for 

those living in the ACT and surrounding NSW.

Peter Carlin 

Chief Executive

”… the focus 
for us turns to 

maximising the 
system to improve 

efficiency, Member 
service, and product 

development…”
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“A lot of work goes on behind
the scenes to ensure we are playing
our part in developing communities

and empowering our staff to become
the public face of SERVICE ONE in

these communities.”
anna storti, General manager – Retail



in the Community

Gungahlin opening

Medicare Change of Address campaign

Christmas toy drive

Cambodia challenge
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SERVICE ONE’s support of our local communities 

continued in 2008/09, with SERVICE ONE contributing 

to over 50 community partners. With a wide range 

of activities, we supported local sporting and social 

groups, school programs, regional agricultural and 

community events, charitable organisations, and even 

international programs.

Christmas toy drive
Towards the end of 2008, SERVICE ONE teamed up 

with Barnardos Australia to launch a Christmas toy 

drive to help make a difference in the lives of some of 

Australia’s most disadvantaged children. Donated toys 

went towards the Barnardos’ Star of Wonder Christmas 

Gift Appeal.

SERVICE ONE’s staff started the toy drive by building 

wooden toys at our annual team building event. 

Hundreds of toys were donated through SERVICE ONE’s 

Branch network and toys were distributed through 

various Barnardos community centres.

medicare campaign 
For the second year, SERVICE ONE supported the ACT 

Government’s ‘Medicare Change of Address’ campaign. 

This campaign took place throughout September 

and October 2008 encouraging residents of the ACT 

who have not updated their address after moving 

from interstate to change their address. The 2008 

campaign generated 383 entries, providing Canberra 

with over $950,000 in additional GST revenue from the 

Australian Government. 

This campaign is particularly important as, for every 

resident of the ACT who has not yet updated his or her 

address, the ACT misses out on approximately $2,000 

worth of Government funding per year. To help capture 

this, SERVICE ONE offered four $5,000 accounts and 

each person who changed their address and registered 

their details with SERVICE ONE went into the draw to 

win. Over the past two years the campaign has raised 

over $2.5 million in additional GST funding for the ACT. 

The ACT Chief Minister highlighted the importance of 

such an initiative.

“On behalf of the Canberra community, I would like 

to thank every new Canberran who benefited the 

ACT by entering the competition. These funds will 

further improve our city and develop our future,” 

Mr Stanhope said.

Cambodia challenge
SERVICE ONE staff and Members raised over $3,000 

to support the Children’s Financial Literacy Program 

in Cambodia. Credit Union Foundation Australia runs 

this program entirely with the funds raised by their 

Cambodian Leadership Challenge participants and 

their supporters. In 2007, one of our Directors, Erik 

Adriaanse, was one of the participants and in 2008, it 

was our Compliance Officer, Chris Hadlington’s turn. 

Chris raised the funds for the program, cycled five days 

throughout Cambodia and helped teach children about 

saving and the importance of using the local ‘savings 

banks’. A total of $52,000 was raised by the initiative. 

Gungahlin community day
In February, our 360o living store officially opened at 

The Marketplace, Gungahlin. Festivities included an 

official opening by ACT Chief Minister Jon Stanhope 

and a community day. 

At the official opening, the Chief Minister shared 

his views on what he thought of the new retail 

concept that is a result of a business alliance between 

ActewAGL, SERVICE ONE and TransACT.

“It is very pleasing to see three locally-owned 

organisations leading the way by offering Canberrans 

this unique retail concept that consolidates such a wide 

range of lifestyle services all under the one roof.

“In 1991, only 389 Canberrans called Gungahlin home 

– now the region has over 35,000 residents. There’s no 

doubt Gungahlin is a thriving and diverse region with 

widely varying needs – an environment that should see 

the 360o living store received very well by residents,” 

Mr Stanhope said.



The official opening was followed by a community day, 

involving activities for the entire family, including face 

painting, balloon artists, visits from local sporting stars, 

competitions and giveaways, a live radio broadcast and 

a sausage sizzle. Hundreds of people came through the 

doors and a great result was achieved by the Lions Club 

of Belconnen, as they raised $2,500 from the sausage 

sizzle to go towards the Victorian Bushfire Appeal.

snowy Hydro southCare
With an average of one life-saving mission every day, 

Snowy Hydro SouthCare provides aero-medical and 

rescue helicopter services for the ACT and South Eastern 

NSW. Snowy Hydro SouthCare relies on the ongoing 

support of major sponsors and SERVICE ONE is pleased 

to continue our support to help keep the helicopter in 

the air. 

The Service, which has now conducted over 3,500 

missions, received an added boost in September 2008, 

with the helicopter being fitted with an Infrared 

Thermal Imaging Camera which was used for the first 

time in a real-time search and rescue situation.

In 2009, Snowy Hydro SouthCare also welcomed 

Governor-General Quentin Bryce as its Chief 

Ambassador. SERVICE ONE also assisted with primary 

fundraising activities through the year, including the 

highly successful Base Open Day, held in February.

seRviCe one contributes to 
victorian Bushfire appeal
Bushfires swept through parts of Victoria in February, 

devastating communities across the state. A public 

outpouring of support followed and Credit Union 

Foundation Australia coordinated a national 

fundraising effort for credit unions. SERVICE ONE 

contributed to the broader relief effort, with Members, 

staff and the organisation donating to support those 

affected. Over $900,000 was raised to assist impacted 

communities in Victoria.

Brumbies wrap
The 2009 Brumbies season signalled a new era for 

the team. Guided by new coaching staff, the team 

welcomed several new faces, with Ben Hand, Shawn 

Mackay, Alfi Mafi, Stephen Moore, James Stannard and 

Sitaleki Timani all joining the team in 2009. Stephen 

Hoiles was also appointed captain, replacing Stirling 

Mortlock, who had skippered the side since 2004.

After some mixed results, the team was devastated 

by the loss of one of their own, when Shawn Mackay 

was struck down in a road side accident in Durban, 

South Africa. Showing great strength, the Brumbies 

regrouped after this tragedy and went on to win five 

of their last seven matches, with emphatic victories over 

Brumbies Captain’s Run Snowy Hydro SouthCare Base Open Day
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the Reds and Blues. The triumph over the Blues saw 

stalwart Stirling Mortlock surpass Andrew Mehrtens’ all 

time Super Rugby point scoring record of 990.

Needing a bonus point win against the Chiefs in 

Hamilton to help ensure a place in the top four, the 

Brumbies’ 2009 season ended with a 10-7 loss. 

SERVICE ONE continued its strong support of the 

Brumbies in 2009, offering one lucky winner the 

ultimate Brumbies fan experience (including the ability 

to toss the coin at the last home game, involvement in 

the Captain’s Run and merchandise). We also supported 

the 2009 Kicks for Cash program, with money being 

donated to Camp Quality for every successful Brumbies 

goal at Canberra Stadium. This initiative raised $4,800. 

For the children
SERVICE ONE continued to entice youngsters to 

save from an early age with the popular colouring-

in competitions, as part of our Member magazines. 

Hundreds of entries were received following the 

distribution of the January and July Member magazines, 

with the younger Members of our communities once 

again proving their inventiveness. Six $100 Day to Day 

Savings Accounts were awarded through the year.

staff support
SERVICE ONE staff made a strong personal contribution 

to our local communities by donating through our 

Jeans Day efforts. Each month, SERVICE ONE staff select 

a charity which they support, with donations gathered 

across the organisation being donated to the selected 

cause. During the 2008/09 financial year, we contributed 

much needed funds to the Children’s Medical Research 

Institute, Can Assist, The Shepherd Centre, The National 

Breast Cancer Foundation, Movember Foundation, 

Cancer Support Group, Barnardos Australia, World 

Vision Australia, Cooma Hospital Auxiliary, Valmar 

Support Services, The Smith Family, Bega Volunteer 

Rescue Association, MS Society, Loud Shirt Day and 

Red Nose Day.

Gungahlin opening



our People

SERVICE ONE has continued to work hard to provide 

a workplace that encourages our people to do their 

very best. Our focus on ensuring staff feel like they 

belong, have trust in the direction of the organisation 

and see the connection between what they do and the 

success of the organisation, has been a key factor in the 

service levels we’ve been able to continue to provide to 

our Members. 

SERVICE ONE’s ongoing staff programs were recognised 

with a win in the 2008 Australian Business Awards. 

These national awards recognise organisations that 

demonstrate business excellence and commercial success 

in their respective industries. SERVICE ONE was chosen 

from a field of 94 entrants, across various industries in 

the Recommended Employer category, having achieved 

award winning standards in human resources. Winning 

this award was incredibly satisfying as SERVICE ONE has 

worked hard to build a culture that values success and 

encourages a strong contribution from our team. 

We’re proud that our team is incredibly focused on 

providing the exceptional Member service we’ve 

become known for, and we’ve continued to build on 

programs that assist staff. These include a Reward and 

Recognition program run by staff that recognises work 

Team building program

Loud Shirt Day

Red Nose Day Reward and Recognition program

Toy build
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that fits with our corporate vision, values and strategies, 

a team building program that brings together 

staff from all areas, our BExceptional initiative that 

encourages the sharing of ideas and other initiatives 

to improve the way we do business. In addition, we 

focus on ongoing communication efforts, including a 

quarterly CEO session where staff can discuss any issues 

affecting them directly and our weekly staff newsletter, 

First in. 

This year, we also undertook an assessment of our staff’s 

views on equal opportunity within our workplace and 

gathered feedback on issues relating to harassment, 

to ensure we continue to deliver a workplace free 

of harassment and one which encourages diversity. 

Positively, SERVICE ONE’s staff felt that management 

genuinely support equal employment opportunities 

for women. 

Our annual staff survey also confirmed strong staff 

satisfaction levels across SERVICE ONE. Ninety-eight 

per cent of staff ‘strongly agree’ or ‘agree’ that they 

are willing to go above and beyond in order to help 

SERVICE ONE succeed, and 94 per cent indicated they 

felt loyal to SERVICE ONE. 

Our focus on developing our staff sees us providing 

support for study, a commitment to developing our 

emerging leaders and employment policies that 

encourage development and learning. As part of this, 

we had several staff attend leadership programs and we 

delivered training to managers and staff to assist us to 

increase awareness and understanding about common 

mental health problems, such as depression and anxiety. 

We know our strength and uniqueness comes from our 

people and it is clear that our Members value this, with 

Members in our latest survey rating competent and 

helpful staff as more important than lower fees. Our 

goal remains to develop and encourage our staff so 

that we can deliver on this Member expectation.

“I have been a 
member since 
1968 and will 
continue to be, 
and have never 
considered going 
elsewhere because 
of the friendly and 
knowledgeable 
service from 
the staff.”
Member



Corporate Directory

administration Centre

Service One Credit Union Limited  

operating as SERVICE ONE Members Banking

ABN 42 095 848 598

AFS Licence No 240836

75 Denison Street

DEAKIN ACT 2600

Locked Bag 1

DEAKIN ACT 2600

BSB 801 009

Telephone 1300 361 761

Fax (02) 6215 7171

For overseas callers

+ 61 2 6215 7112

internet and email

www.somb.com.au

members@somb.com.au

Phone Banking (australia)

1300 361 431

Branch locations

Australian National University

Union Court, Acton

Batemans Bay

Shop G21C, Village Centre

Belconnen

Shop 164, Gallery Level

Westfield Belconnen

Bemboka

Loftus Street

Brindabella Business Park

Building 23, Brindabella Circuit, The Canberra Airport

Calvary Hospital

Haydon Drive, Bruce

Canberra City

Shop 32A, Baileys Arcade 

Cooma

138 Sharp Street

Deakin

75 Denison Street

Gungahlin (360o living store)

Hibberson Street, The Marketplace

Queanbeyan

68 – 70 Monaro Street

The Canberra Hospital

Yamba Drive, Garran

Tuggeranong

Shop 18, Lower Level

Tuggeranong Hyperdome

Tumut

52 – 54 Russell Street

University of Canberra

Student Services Centre, Concourse Level

Woden

Shop 71, Gallery Court

Westfield Woden

Directors

Mr John Clarke (Chair) LLB

Mr Erik Adriaanse BA (Acc), FCPA, FPS

Professor Jennifer Corbett BA (Hons), MA (Ec),  

MA, PhD

Mr Ian Davis BA (Hons)

Ms Heather Nash BA LLB FAICD  

(from 15 October 2008)

Mr Winston Phillips JP

Mrs Deborah Robinson MBA, B.Comm, FAICD

Mr Colin Smeal (to 15 October 2008)

Mr Ivan Slavich BBus, Grad Dip AFI, Grad Cert BA, 

MAGA, AFAIM, FAICD (from 2 February 2009)
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executive

Mr Peter Carlin – Chief Executive BA (Acctng), FCPA

Mr Matthew Smith – Deputy Chief Executive and  

Chief Finance Officer B.Comm, CPA

Ms Anna Storti – General Manager – Retail MBA (Exec)

Mr Tony Brown – Head of Risk and Compliance

Corporate Governance Committee

Professor Jennifer Corbett (Chair) 

Mr Colin Smeal (Chair to 15 October 2008)

Ms Heather Nash (from 15 October 2008)

Mr Winston Phillips

audit and Compliance Committee

Mr Erik Adriaanse (Chair)

Mr John Clarke

Mrs Deborah Robinson

Finance and Risk Committee

Mr Ian Davis (Chair)

Mr John Clarke

Professor Jennifer Corbett (to 30 October 2008)

Mr Ivan Slavich (from 2 February 2009)

Bankers

JP Morgan Chase Bank

solicitors

DLA Phillips Fox

internal auditor

Walter Turnbull

external auditor

Ernst & Young

insurers

Chubb Insurance Company of Australia Ltd

Specialist Underwriting Agencies P/L



Directors

John Clarke 
(Chair)

John has been a Director of Service 

One Credit Union since 2001 and 

prior to that was a Director of Snowy 

Mountains Credit Union from 1996. 

Since 1975, he has been a barrister and solicitor for 

the Supreme Courts of NSW, ACT and the High Court 

of Australia, practicing in Cooma. He is President of 

the Cooma Rotary Club and has been involved with 

many other community organisations including Apex, 

Landcare, women’s refuge, nursing homes, preschools, 

daycare centres and has been a pro bono adviser to 

various community organisations for many years.

erik adriaanse

Erik is a qualified fellow CPA, a 

past CPA Divisional Councillor in 

the ACT, and past President of CPA 

Australia in Canberra. He was also 

a Board member of Legacy Club 

of Canberra ACT, the Cultural Facilities Corporation, 

Australian Council of Professions and the CIT Audit and 

Compliance Committee. He is presently a Director of 

Snowy Hydro SouthCare Helicopter Trust and the ANU 

Centre for Dialogue Steering Committee. Following 

a 30 year background as an Accountant and Financial 

Planner in private practice he is currently General 

Manager of the Independent Property Group and 

Chairman of their Management Committee. He’s also 

the President of the Strata Managers Institute (ACT) 

Incorporated and a Director of the National Community 

Titles Institute. He has completed 20 Sydney to Hobart 

yacht races, winning three times, and has represented 

Australia in sailing. Erik has climbed Mt Kilimanjaro and 

reached 6,500 metres on Mt Everest.

 Jennifer Corbett

Jenny was appointed as a non-

executive Director of Service One 

Credit Union in August 2005 and 

elected as Director in 2006. Jenny 

grew up in Canberra and was an 

undergraduate student at ANU. She is currently a 

Professor of Economics at the Crawford School of 

Economics and Government, and Executive Director of 

the Australia-Japan Research Centre at the ANU. Jenny 

is also a Fellow of St Antony’s College, Oxford and was, 

for several years, Chair of its Finance Committee. Jenny’s 

research interests include corporate governance in, and 

regulation of, financial institutions. 

ian Davis

Ian has lived in Canberra for more 

than 20 years. He is Chief Executive 

of National Publishers (previously 

National Capital Newsletters), 

which he established after a career 

in journalism (Finance Editor and News Editor of 

The Canberra Times, Government Business Editor 

of The Australian Financial Review and Economics 

Correspondent for The Age). National Publishers 

develops and publishes newsletters and other 

publications for industry associations, government 

agencies and companies. Ian is chair of SERVICE ONE’s 

Finance and Risk Committee and a former member of 

the Council of the University of Canberra, former chair 

of their Finance Committee and a former member of 

the ACT Department of Education’s Accreditation and 

Registration Council.

Heather nash

Heather is an experienced company 

Director, having been on the Boards of 

UniSuper and currently of the Uniting 

Church (NSW & ACT) Trust Association 

and SERVICE ONE since 2008. She 

has lived in Canberra continuously since 1985 and in 

the 1970s when studying at the ANU. She has a strong 

commitment to Canberra and the surrounding regions 
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and has been involved on a voluntary basis with several 

community organisations. Heather worked in the ANU 

administration for 18 years before moving in late 2006 

to the Australian Library and Information Association, 

where she is the Industrial Relations and Human 

Resources Advisor. In addition to her legal training, she 

has completed the exams for the Australian Institute 

of Company Directors and is a Fellow of the Institute. 

Outside of business hours, Heather is an avid reader 

and traveller.

Winston Phillips

Winston lives on a farm near Cooma 

and works for the Department of 

Defence in Cooma. He was a Director 

of Snowy Mountains Credit Union 

from 1996 and Chairman for two 

years. He has been a Director of Service One Credit 

Union since it was formed in 2001. Chairman of the 

Sir William Hudson Memorial Centre Nursing Home 

since 1999 and a Director since 1996, Winston has also 

been a Councillor on the Cooma-Monaro Shire Council 

since 1991 and served two years as Deputy Mayor. A 

volunteer member of Bush Fire Brigades for 40 years, 

Winston is Chairman of the Cooma-Monaro District 

Rural Fire Services Committee. He was a Director on the 

Cooma Rural Lands Protection Board from 2006 to 2008 

and was elected to the South East Livestock Health and 

Pest Authority in June 2009. Winston has been a Justice 

of the Peace since 1991.

Deborah Robinson

A Canberra resident since 1974, 

Deborah has over 20 years experience 

in the workforce, firstly in an 

audit role with a firm of Chartered 

Accountants and then as a manager/

tax adviser with the government sector. Deborah has 

been a credit union Member for over 30 years and an 

active Board member for 14 years. She has a Master 

of Business Administration, a Bachelor of Commerce 

and has completed the Company Directors Course 

Diploma and the AICD Mastering the Boardroom 

Advanced Program. Deborah has strong financial 

and corporate governance skills, and a thorough 

understanding of the financial services industry. 

ivan slavich

Ivan was appointed to the SERVICE 

ONE Board in February 2009, and 

is currently the CEO of the ACT’s 

own telecommunications provider, 

TransACT, as well as Head of Retail 

for ActewAGL where he has responsibility for retail 

sales, marketing, customer services, billing and credit 

management, wholesale, product development 

and pricing. Ivan has a Bachelor of Business degree 

from UTS, Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance & 

Investment from the Australian Securities Institute 

of Australia and Graduate Certificate in Business 

Administration from the Mt Eliza Business School, along 

with being a Graduate and Fellow of the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors. Ivan also maintains 

strong links with the community, through his work 

on several Boards – including the Australian Science 

Festival, Camp Quality esCarpade and through his 

contribution as an ACT Business Leaders Innovative 

Thoughts and Solutions Champion, a program run by 

the ACT Government to promote initiatives that value 

and engage with those with disabilities.

Colin smeal

Colin came to Canberra in 1964 after 

having worked for a major bank in 

Sydney. He has a long history serving 

the ACT Hospital system and was a 

Director of the ACT Hospitals and 

Health Employees Credit Union for nine years. Colin 

has held many senior positions in both the private and 

public sector including Director of Employment and 

Industrial Relations and Personal Services, Director 

Administration, Royal Canberra Hospital and Director 

Executive and Workforce Management in the ACT Chief 

Minister’s Department. Colin is currently working on 

health policy issues with the Federal Department of 

Health and Ageing. Colin retired from the SERVICE ONE 

Board in October 2008. 



Corporate Governance statement

On 31 March 2003 the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) 

Corporate Governance Council released its Principles 

of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice 

Recommendations (the Recommendations). The second 

edition of these Recommendations was released in 

August 2007. SERVICE ONE, because it is an unlisted 

public company, is not obliged to report on whether 

or not it follows the Recommendations. However, the 

Board has chosen to do so in relation to those matters 

which are material to non-listed public companies 

in acknowledgement of its responsibility for and 

commitment to best practice in corporate governance.

Although the primary driver of this document is 

the ASX Rules, it is also influenced by the release by 

APRA of its APS510 – Governance Prudential Standard, 

stipulating the minimum governance requirements of 

Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions (ADIs).

The Board recognises that achieving best practice 

is an ongoing process and will reflect changes in 

community thinking. 

SERVICE ONE has developed a corporate governance 

section on our website. The various codes, policies and 

terms of reference referred to in this statement are 

published on our website.

Board of Directors
The Board has adopted the following key 

responsibilities:

•	 Act in the best interest of SERVICE ONE as a whole

•	 Observe their duties as Directors in terms of 

corporations law, general law, SERVICE ONE’s 

Constitution and other relevant legislation 

•	 Compliance with APRA Prudential Standards, and 

•	 Enhance Member value.

In order to meet these responsibilities, the key functions 

of the Board include:

•	 Establishing, making appointments and making 

delegations to Board sub-committees 

•	 Appointing, delegating to, supporting, evaluating 

and rewarding the Chief Executive and having in 

place a succession plan 

•	 Seeking to achieve a diverse and effective Board, 

with appropriate skills, operating standards and 

procedures for the Board and its committees 

•	 Determining, monitoring and reviewing the 

strategic direction and objectives

•	 Approving, monitoring and reviewing the 

strategic plan including financial and non-financial 

performance measures 

•	 Ensuring that the principal business risks have 

been identified and the implementation and 

monitoring by management of a framework to 

manage those risks 

•	 Reviewing, approving and monitoring policy, within 

a policy and compliance framework 

•	 Ensuring a process is in place for the maintenance of 

the integrity of internal controls, and financial and 

management information systems 

•	 Ensuring processes are in place so that SERVICE ONE 

acts legally and responsibly on all matters

•	 Ensuring that appropriate ethical standards are 

maintained 

•	 Reviewing, determining and monitoring the skills 

and performance of: 

 − the Board as a whole

 − Directors as individuals

 − Board sub-committees, and

•	 Reporting to the Members on the Board’s 

stewardship as required.

Composition of the Board
The Constitution of SERVICE ONE (the Constitution) 

stipulates that the Board consists of a minimum of five 

and no more than 10 Directors. At all times the Board 

must have no less than five elected Directors. The 

Constitution also allows the Board to appoint a Director 

for a 12-month term.

Directors’ profiles appear on page 20 and 21. 

Subject to the following paragraphs, elected Directors 

serve a three year term and retire in rotation but may 

stand for re-election. Any Director appointed to fill 

a casual vacancy during the financial year must also 

have that appointment confirmed by a resolution of 

Members at that year’s Annual General Meeting.
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The Constitution provides that other than a Director 

who is a current Chair of the Board, a Director who 

has served 12 consecutive years as a Director will retire 

from the Board at the first Annual General Meeting 

immediately following their 12 year anniversary, subject 

only to a prior unanimous decision by the Board to 

extend (or support the extension of) that Director’s 

tenure. Such a unanimous resolution by the Board is to 

be made in the absence of the Director concerned.

In the case of a serving Chair the period above is  

15 years.

Board processes
The Board generally meets monthly and more regularly 

if required.

The agenda for Board meetings is prepared by the Chair 

of the Board in conjunction with the Chief Executive.

The Board is of the view that the Board shall only 

comprise non-executive Directors. The Board has 

adopted the principle that it should comprise a majority 

of independent Directors and that its Chair should be 

an independent Director.

Board and Director 
performance evaluation
The Board has a formal process for evaluating the 

performance and skills of the Board. A fuller description 

of this process can be found in the Board Charter on 

SERVICE ONE’s website. A formal evaluation of the 

performance and skills mix of the Board, its sub-

committees, the Directors and the Chief Executive 

was carried out in accordance with the Board 

Charter requirements. 

Remuneration for Directors or the Chief Executive does 

not contain any component related to profit sharing or 

the issue of stock or options.

Director independence
The Recommendations indicate that the Board 

should comprise a majority of independent 

Directors. An independent Director being considered 

independent of management and free of any business 

or other relationship that could materially interfere 

with, or could reasonably be perceived to materially 

interfere with, the exercise of their unfettered and 

independent judgement. 

However, the Constitution of SERVICE ONE stipulates 

that a Director has to be a Member of SERVICE ONE and 

in most cases that means a Director will have deposits 

and, possibly, loans with SERVICE ONE, which might 

compromise that independence. Details of loans to 

Directors and other Director related transactions are 

included in the annual Financial Report beginning 

on page 34.

The Board is of the view that it would ordinarily 

expect a relationship to be considered material when 

it accounts for more than five per cent of the total 

services provided by the Member or supplier or more 

than 20 per cent of the total supplies of SERVICE ONE or 

services of the same, or a similar, nature. 

Taking into account the above qualifications, the 

Board has determined that each of the Directors 

is an independent Director. In so determining, the 

Board had regard to the information contained in 

the profile of each Director and the tests set out in 

the Recommendations.

Director access to 
professional advice
To assist in the effective discharge of their duties, 

Directors may, in consultation with the Chair, seek 

independent legal advice on their duties and 

responsibilities at the expense of SERVICE ONE and, in 

due course, make all Board members aware of both 

instructions to advisors and the advice obtained.



Director access to employees
Members of the Executive regularly attend Board 

meetings and Directors have unfettered direct access to 

the Executives of SERVICE ONE.

Board committees
The Board has four formally constituted standing 

committees to assist it in decision-making, oversight 

and control:

•	 the Audit and Compliance Committee

•	 the Finance and Risk Committee

•	 the Corporate Governance Committee, and

•	 a Remuneration Committee.

In addition to the above standing committees the Board 

also establishes the following ad hoc committees from 

time to time and as necessary:

•	 a Director Nominations Committee, and

•	 a Constitutional Review Committee. 

All committees have written Terms of Reference.

Other than the Director Nominations Committee, 

membership of the committees comprises Directors with 

representatives of management attending committee 

meetings as required. Membership of the Director 

Nominations Committee comprises two non-members 

(Robyn FitzRoy and Alexander Sala) as well as the Chair 

of the Board. In the years that the Chair is a candidate 

for election to the Board another Director is chosen by 

the Board as the third member of the Committee.

The minutes of all Board committee meetings are 

tabled, and any recommendations are considered at 

the next scheduled Board meeting. The memberships 

of Board committees are detailed on page 19 and 

attendances at meetings are set out in the Directors’ 

Report on page 31. 

All Directors are entitled to attend all Board 

committee meetings.

The Corporate Governance Committee

The Committee’s role includes: 

•	 Reviewing and reporting to the Board on 

current corporate governance policies and 

reviewing outcomes

•	 Reviewing and reporting to the Board on 

best practice developments in corporate 

governance issues

•	 Providing recommendations to the Board on 

corporate governance practices after assessment 

and review

•	 Reviewing and reporting to the Board on SERVICE 

ONE’s compliance with APS510 and the best 

practice recommendations of the ASX Corporate 

Governance Council

•	 Reviewing disclosure of corporate governance 

policies and information on SERVICE ONE’s website

•	 Providing recommendations to the Board on 

effective policies and procedures to ensure effective 

communication of SERVICE ONE’s corporate 

governance polices to Members, media, analysts and 

industry participants, and 

•	 Providing recommendations to the Board on 

technical or professional development courses to 

assist Directors in keeping up to date with relevant 

issues and practices. 

The Committee from time-to-time seeks advice from 

external experts.

audit and Compliance Committee

The Committee’s role includes:

•	 Facilitating communication between the internal 

auditor, the external auditor and the Board 

•	 Reviewing and considering any changes to 

accounting policies

•	 Receiving and considering reports from 

management so as to determine the effectiveness of 

SERVICE ONE’s risk management systems

•	 If necessary, requiring the internal auditor or Head 

of Risk and Compliance to undertake an audit or 

compliance project and report on such 
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•	 Considering and reviewing with the external 

auditor, the internal auditor and management:

 − the adequacy of SERVICE ONE’s internal 

controls to minimise risk or exposures, 

including computerised information system 

controls and security 

 − any related significant findings and 

recommendations of the external auditor 

and the internal auditor together with 

management’s responses to such findings 

and recommendations 

•	 Considering and reviewing with management and 

the internal auditor:

 − significant findings during the year and 

management’s responses to such findings 

 − any difficulties encountered in the course of 

internal audits, including any restrictions on 

the scope of their work or access to required 

information 

 − any changes required in the planned scope of 

the internal audit plan 

 − the internal audit budget and staffing

•	 Reviewing legal and regulatory matters that 

may have a material impact on SERVICE ONE’s 

compliance policies and programs and reports 

received from APRA 

•	 Considering and reviewing the policies and 

procedures for the selection, appointment and 

reappointment of the external auditor, the rotation 

of external audit engagement partners and the 

terms of any such appointment 

•	 Monitoring SERVICE ONE’s compliance with the 

legal obligations to which it is subject, and 

•	 Assisting the Board and management in monitoring 

risk management, controls and corporate 

governance performance.

In discharging the above general responsibilities 

the Committee will undertake the following 

specific functions:

•	 Confirming and assuring the independence of the 

internal and external auditors 

•	 Considering and reviewing, in consultation with 

the external auditor and the internal auditor, the 

audit scope and plan of the internal auditor and the 

external auditor 

•	 Reviewing year-end accounts to ensure that such 

accounts have been prepared in accordance with 

proper accounting principles and recommending 

them for adoption by the Board. This will 

incorporate review of the management letter 

prepared by the external auditor and the 

management response to that letter 

•	 Reviewing SERVICE ONE’s insurance arrangements 

•	 Recommending the appointment and removal of 

the external auditor

•	 Considering the level of fees payable to the external 

auditors, and 

•	 Assessing the performance and independence of 

the external auditor and whether the independence 

of this function is maintained having regard to the 

provision of non-audit related services. 

The external and internal auditors have a direct line 

of communication to the Chair of the Audit and 

Compliance Committee and meet regularly, in camera, 

with the Committee. 

In 2008/09 the external auditor of SERVICE ONE is Ernst 

& Young who attends the Annual General Meeting of 

SERVICE ONE and is available to take questions from 

Members. 

In 2008/09 the internal audit is outsourced to Walter 

Turnbull, a firm of chartered accountants. 

The internal audit function operates under documented 

standards and procedures for auditing that set out the 

purpose, authority and responsibility of the internal 

audit function. The function of the internal audit is 

to provide an independent assessment of risk and 

compliance with internal controls. 

The internal audit plan is approved by the Audit and 

Compliance Committee each year and outlines a 

program of internal audits to be conducted for the year.

The results of all internal audits are reported to 

the Audit and Compliance Committee. In addition, 

processes have been put in place to ensure that 

appropriate follow-up actions are taken in relation to 



significant audit findings and identified areas of risk. 

The Head of Risk and Compliance and Chief Finance 

Officer (CFO) attend all Audit and Compliance 

Committee meetings, other than the in camera sessions.

The Finance and Risk Committee

The Committee’s role includes:

•	 Overseeing and monitoring SERVICE ONE’s policies 

and procedures in relation to the management and 

control of the following risks:

 − credit risk: being the risks from a borrower 

or counterparty failing to meet contractual 

obligations to SERVICE ONE or to perform as 

agreed 

 − liquidity risk: being the risk from SERVICE ONE’s 

inability to meet obligations when they become 

due without incurring unacceptable losses 

because of an inability to liquidate assets or to 

obtain adequate funding 

 − market risk: being the following risks:

 > funding risk: the risk of over-reliance on a 

particular funding source, the volatility of 

funding costs or availability of funding 

 > interest rate risk: the risk from movements 

in interest rates and the impact on pricing 

relationships between asset and liability 

products of a retail or wholesale nature 

 > the risk to earnings from fluctuations in 

exchange rates and market volatility 

 > the risk from changes in the value of 

portfolios of financial instruments 

 > the risk from material changes in global and 

domestic economic conditions generally

 − operational risk: being the risk attributable to 

the daily operations of SERVICE ONE

•	 Reviewing and approving loan and other financial 

facility submissions, credit limits and exposures 

above the levels and limits delegated by the Board 

to management or within the levels and limits as 

specifically delegated to the Committee by the 

Board from time to time

•	 Overseeing budget processes and reviewing and 

reporting to the Board on matters in relation to 

financial performance 

•	 Reporting to the Board on all material 

matters arising from its review and monitoring 

functions by the provision to the Board of the 

Committee’s minutes of meetings or by special 

report, as appropriate 

•	 Reviewing and making recommendations on any 

changes to risk limit structures, and 

•	 Overseeing and monitoring management’s annual 

risk assessment. 

The Head of Risk and Compliance and CFO attend all 

Finance and Risk Committee meetings, other than the 

in camera sessions. 

internal control framework

Business risk identification and 
management

The Board monitors the operational and financial 

performance of SERVICE ONE against budget and 

other key performance measures through a structure 

of regular management reports to the Board and its 

committees. The Board also receives and reviews reports 

and advice on areas of operational and financial risk. 

The Audit and Compliance Committee reviews on an 

annual basis the adequacy of insurance coverage to 

mitigate certain operational risks of SERVICE ONE. 

SERVICE ONE has established controls at the Board, 

Executive and business unit levels that are designed to 

safeguard the interests of SERVICE ONE and ensure the 

integrity of reporting (including accounting, financial 

reporting, occupational health and safety, and other 

internal control policies and procedures).

These controls are designed to ensure that SERVICE 

ONE complies with regulatory requirements and 

community standards. 

The Chief Executive and the CFO provide the Board 

with statements about SERVICE ONE’s financial reports 

and compliance with the Corporations Act, APRA’s 

Prudential Standards and the Australian Accounting 

Standards. The statements reflect the declarations 

required to be made by Directors in the Annual 

Financial Report.
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The Chief Executive and CFO have provided the Board 

with statements that the financial reporting risk 

management and associated compliance controls have 

been assessed and found to be operating efficiently and 

effectively. The operational and other risk management 

compliance controls have also been assessed and found 

to be operating efficiently and effectively. 

At least annually, formal performance appraisals are 

conducted for all employees. 

SERVICE ONE has an active Occupational Health and 

Safety Committee. That Committee comprises both 

managers and other employees. The Head of Risk and 

Compliance and General Manager – Retail are members 

of that Committee. 

ethical standards
The core values of SERVICE ONE centre on improving 

the quality and efficiency of financial service delivery by 

providing products and services to help Members meet 

their financial goals. 

To this end, SERVICE ONE is committed to maintaining 

the highest ethical standards in delivering products and 

services to its Members. 

SERVICE ONE acknowledges that personal financial 

information is sensitive and subject to privacy 

legislation. To this end, SERVICE ONE is committed to 

ethical and appropriate practices and compliance with 

relevant privacy legislation. It has in place processes 

to maintain the expectations of the community and 

Members for the security, privacy and integrity of 

personal financial information. Where appropriate, 

SERVICE ONE aims to conduct its operations without 

needing to rely on the collection of personal financial 

information.

The Board has adopted Codes of Conduct, which set out 

the expectations for Directors and staff in their business 

affairs and in dealings with Members. The Codes of 

Conduct require high standards of personal integrity 

and honesty in all dealings, a respect for the privacy of 

Members and others and observance of the law.

New staff members are provided with a copy of the 

Staff Business Code of Conduct when they join SERVICE 

ONE and it is readily accessible online for existing 

staff members. 

The Board regularly reviews all its policies to ensure 

their continued relevance and effectiveness. 

Where necessary, at a Board meeting, Directors report 

on any interest that could potentially conflict with 

those of SERVICE ONE and report on any Director 

related transactions in the Notes to the Annual 

Financial Report.

Communication with 
members
The Board aims to ensure that Members are informed 

of all major developments affecting the state of affairs 

of SERVICE ONE. Information is communicated to 

Members as follows: 

•	 The Annual Report is distributed to all Members 

who request it and includes relevant information 

about the operations of SERVICE ONE during the 

year, changes in the state of affairs of SERVICE 

ONE and details of future developments, in addition 

to other disclosures required by the Corporations 

Act 2001 

•	 Twice yearly a magazine is sent to all active 

Members of SERVICE ONE 

•	 When SERVICE ONE becomes aware of information 

which, in the view of the Board, requires Members 

to be notified a letter is sent to Members 

•	 SERVICE ONE regularly conducts surveys to 

determine the perceptions and feedback of 

Members 

•	 SERVICE ONE may, in some instances, communicate 

with Members via email should their details be 

available, and 

•	 The SERVICE ONE website contains information to 

keep Members informed of current events.



Directors’ Report

Your Directors present their report, together with 

the financial statements of Service One Credit Union 

Limited (“the Credit Union”) and its consolidated 

entities (“the group”) for the year ended 30 June 2009.

Directors
The Directors of the Credit Union, in office during the 

year and at the date of this report are:

Mr Erik Adriaanse

Mr John Clarke 

Professor Jennifer Corbett 

Mr Ian Davis

Ms Heather Nash (appointed 15 October 2008)

Mr Winston Phillips

Mrs Deborah Robinson 

Mr Ivan Slavich (appointed 2 February 2009), and

Mr Colin Smeal (retired 15 October 2008).

Details of each Director’s qualifications, experience and 

special responsibilities are detailed on pages 18, 20  

and 21.

Company secretaries  
as at 30 June 2009
Peter L Carlin BA (Acctng), FCPA

Mr Carlin has been a Company Secretary and Chief 

Executive of Service One Credit Union Ltd for 8 years. 

Prior to holding this position he was Company Secretary 

and CEO of The Credit Union of Canberra for 6 years.

Mr Carlin has been a CPA for over 15 years.

Matthew D Smith B.Comm, CPA

Mr Smith has been a Company Secretary of Service One 

Credit Union Ltd for 5 years and Chief Financial Officer 

of Service One Credit Union Ltd for 8 years. Prior to 

holding this position he was CFO of The Credit Union of 

Canberra for 6 years.

Mr Smith has been a CPA for over 8 years.

indemnifying an officer 
or auditor
No indemnities have been given or paid, during or since 

the end of the financial year, for any person who is or 

has been an officer or auditor of the Credit Union.

Insurance premiums have been paid to insure each 

of the Directors and Executive Officers of the Credit 

Union, against any costs and expenses incurred by 

them in defending any legal proceeding arising out 

of their conduct, while acting in their capacity as an 

officer of the Credit Union. The premiums relating to 

this insurance cannot be disclosed under the terms and 

conditions of this policy.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Credit Union and the 

group during the financial year were the provision of 

retail financial services, insurance and other associated 

services to the Members of the Credit Union in 

accordance with the Constitution of the Credit Union.

There were no significant changes in the principal 

activities during the year.

operating results
The Underlying Profit, after income tax, for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2009 was $1,180,000 

(2008: $1,337,000). This represents an 11.7% decrease 

for the financial year.
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Explanatory notes:

(1) In the early part of the 2008/09 year, most forecasts 

indicated that interest rates would rise and continue 

to rise. Also, in the lead up to the Australian 

Government’s guarantee of deposits held by ADIs 

the Board was concerned that the prevailing 

high levels of economic and financial uncertainty 

and loss of confidence in many overseas banking 

systems would flow through to the Australian 

banking system. The Board, therefore, took the 

prudent course of action of increasing the Credit 

Union’s liquidity holdings so that the impact on 

the Credit Union of any similar uncertainty and 

loss of confidence would be minimised. For these 

reasons, the Credit Union locked in term deposits 

from Members at prevailing interest rates for 

periods of about 12 months and matched these on 

the money markets. However, as the impact of the 

Global Financial Crisis (GFC) was felt, central banks 

subsequently undertook a process of aggressive 

and unprecedented interest rate reductions. These 

rate reductions flowed through to Members’ loans 

and the Credit Union’s money market investments, 

giving rise to an interest rate mismatch and a 

one off fall in interest margin, quantified in the 

reconciliation above. 

Given the one off nature of them, the impact of 

the actions taken by the Board to mitigate the 

effects of the GFC are excluded in calculating 

underlying profit to help Members better 

understand the Credit Union’s core or underlying 

business performance.

Due to the maturity of the term deposits, at the date 

of this report, the interest rate mismatch has largely 

disappeared and margins are returning to more 

normal levels. 

(2) The Credit Union enters into interest rate swaps to 

manage interest rate risk and to protect it against 

the forecast interest rate rises mentioned previously. 

The Credit Union has a policy of not trading such 

swaps and of holding them to maturity. The effect 

of this policy is that although the mark to market 

value of the swap will vary as interest rates move 

up or down over the life of the swap, the cumulative 

effect of such movements will produce a net nil 

gain or loss. Notwithstanding this policy of holding 

swaps to maturity, the Australian Accounting 

Standards require the swaps be recognised in the 

Income Statement at the balance date at their 

unrealised value. As interest rates have fallen since 

the swaps were taken out, the Credit Union has 

classified an unrealised after tax loss of $1,210,000 

(2008: gain of $85,000) relating to the accounting 

revaluation of these swaps. 

CONSOLIDATED

2008/09 2007/08

Gross Tax Net Gross Tax Net

Statutory (Loss) / Profit ($’000) (1,418) 2,144

Adjustments for one off items/events

Tax provision adjustment - 241 241 - - -

Cost of liquidity to deal with GFC (1) 2,265 (680) 1,585 - - -

Fair value adjustment in interest rate swaps (2) 1,210 (363) 847 (85) 26 (59)

Profit on sale of 75 Denison Street, Deakin - - - (1,068) 320 (748)

Visa sale dividend (3) (125) 50 (75) - - -

Sub total 3,350 (752) 2,598 (1,153) 346 (807)

Underlying Profit 1,180 1,337

This table has been prepared in accordance with the Australian Institute of Company Directors and the Financial Services Institute  
of Australasia principles for reporting underlying profit. 

A reconciliation of this value (unaudited) to the reported Statutory Profit is set out in the table below.



As the movements in these valuations have no cash 

or regulatory capital impact, they are excluded 

in calculating underlying profit to help Members 

better understand the Credit Union’s core or 

underlying business performance.

(3) During the year, the card payments company, Visa, 

was sold and the Credit Union received a dividend, 

sharing in the profit from that sale.

As the sale of Visa was a one off event and the 

revenues will not be repeated, they are excluded 

in calculating underlying profit to help Members 

better understand the Credit Union’s core or 

underlying business performance.

In accordance with Rule 7.1 of the Constitution of the 

Credit Union, no dividends are payable.

Review of operations
The results of the Credit Union’s operations are as 

follows:

Reserves
An amount of $1,427,000 (2008: $2,020,000 to 

reserves) was transferred from reserves and $9,000 

(2008: $124,000) was transferred to capital. Members’ 

funds, representing reserves and capital, now total 

$19,331,000 (2008: $20,749,000).

assets
Assets increased by 5.5% to $280,596,000 (2008: 

$266,074,000).

loans
Loan balances increased by 0.6% to $214,008,000  

(2008: $212,781,000).

Deposits
Deposit balances increased by 5.3% to $253,643,000 

(2008: $240,822,000).

members
Shareholder numbers increased by 2.1% to 34,205 

(2008: 33,505).

significant changes in  
state of affairs
No matter or circumstance that has arisen since the 

end of the year has significantly affected or may 

significantly effect:

(i) the operations of the Credit Union

(ii) the results of those operations, or

(iii) the state of affairs of the Credit Union

in the financial years subsequent to this financial year.

likely developments 
and results
Other than in the normal course of business, 

no significant developments are expected in the  

Credit Union’s operation in future financial years. 

Rounding 
The amounts contained in the financial statements 

have been rounded to the nearest one thousand 

dollars, in accordance with ASIC Class Order 98/100. 

The Credit Union is permitted to round to the nearest 

one thousand dollars ($’000) for all amounts except 

prescribed disclosures which are shown in whole dollars.
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Directors’ meetings

 Board of Directors

Corporate 
Governance 
Committee 

Audit and 
Compliance 
Committee 

Finance and  
Risk Committee 
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Erik Adriaanse 11 11   5 5   

John Clarke 11 11 1 1 5 5 5 5

Jennifer Corbett 11 11 5 5   2 2

Ian Davis 11 11     6 6

Winston Phillips 11 11 5 5     

Deborah Robinson 11 11   5 5   

Heather Nash 7 7 4 4     

Ivan Slavich 3 4     2 2

Colin Smeal 4 4 1 1     

 

Director 
Nominations 
Committee

Strategic Planning 
Coordination 
Committee

Board Strategic 
Planning Workshop

Joint Risk 
Workshop
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Erik Adriaanse   1 1 2 2 1 1

John Clarke 1 1 1 1 2 2 1 1

Jennifer Corbett     2 2   

Ian Davis   1 1 2 2 1 1

Winston Phillips     2 2   

Deborah Robinson   1 1 2 2 1 1

Heather Nash     1 1   

Ivan Slavich     1 1 1 1

Colin Smeal     1 1   



Directors’ benefits
No Director has received or become entitled to receive, 

during the financial year or since 30 June 2009, a 

benefit (other than benefits disclosed at note 26 of the 

financial statements) by reason of a contract made by 

the Credit Union, or an entity within the Credit Union 

group, with the Director, a firm of which the Director 

is a member, or a company in which the Director has a 

substantial financial interest.
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audit independence
The Directors have been provided the Auditor’s Independence Declaration and that Declaration appears below.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

J C Clarke E M Adriaanse

Chair Chair – Audit and Compliance Committee

Dated this 14th day of August 2009.

auditor’s independence Declaration to the  
Directors of service one Credit union limited
In relation to our audit of the financial report of Service One Credit Union Limited for the financial year ended  

30 June 2009, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor 

independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional conduct.

Ernst & Young 

Andrew Gilder

Partner

14 August 2009



Financial Report
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest income 3 19,303 19,113 19,303 19,113

Interest expense 3 (11,843) (8,312) (11,843) (8,312)

Net interest income 3 7,460 10,801 7,460 10,801

Other operating income 4 4,296 5,448 4,296 5,448

Impairment losses on loans and advances 9 (c) (76) (92) (76) (92)

Other operating expenses 4 (13,471) (13,320) (13,471) (13,320)

(Loss) / profit before income tax expense (1,791) 2,837 (1,791) 2,837

Income tax benefit / (expense) 5 373 (693) 373 (693)

Net (loss) / profit attributable to Members after income tax 
benefit / (expense)

(1,418) 2,144 (1,418) 2,144

INCOME STATEMENT



At 30 June 2009 Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 6 5,463 9,544 5,463 9,544

Receivables due from other financial institutions 7 54,527 37,782 54,527 37,782

Accrued receivables 8 263 916 263 916

Loans and advances 9 214,008 212,781 214,008 212,781

Other financial assets 11 - 85 - 85

Available for sale investments 12 1,496 1,496 1,296 1,296

Property, plant and equipment 13 1,811 2,005 1,811 2,005

Intangibles 14 1,818 696 1,818 696

Deferred tax assets 5 769 222 769 222

Current tax receivables 174 - 174 -

Other 15 267 547 267 547

TOTAL ASSETS 280,596 266,074 280,396 265,874

LIABILITIES 

Payables to other financial institutions 16 17 4 17 4

Deposits and borrowings 17 256,333 240,969 256,333 240,969

Other financial liabilities 18 1,125 - 1,125 -

Deferred tax liabilities 5 92 159 92 159

Current tax liabilities - 540 - 540

Trade and other payables 19 3,275 3,278 3,275 3,278

Provisions 20 423 375 423 375

TOTAL LIABILITIES 261,265 245,325 261,265 245,325

NET ASSETS 19,331 20,749 19,131 20,549

MEMBERS’ FUNDS

Reserves 18,937 20,364 18,737 20,164

Capital 394 385 394 385

TOTAL MEMBERS’ FUNDS 19,331 20,749 19,131 20,549

BALANCE ShEET
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For the year ended 30 June 2009

CONSOLIDATED

Asset  
Revaluation 

Reserve

Capital 
Redemption 

Account
Retained 

Profits

General 
Reserve for 

Credit Losses
General 
Reserve Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening – 1st July 2007 402 261 - 436 17,506 18,605

Profit / (loss) for the year - - 2,144 - - 2,144

Transfer from / (to) general reserve (402) - (2,020) - 2,422 -

Transfer from / (to) capital 
redemption reserve

124 (124) - - -

Closing – 30th June 2008 - 385 - 436 19,928 20,749

Opening – 1st July 2008 - 385 - 436 19,928 20,749

Profit / (loss) for the year - - (1,418) - - (1,418)

Transfer from / (to) general reserve - - 1,427 - (1,427) -

Transfer from / (to) capital 
redemption reserve

- 9 (9) - - -

Closing – 30th June 2009 - 394 - 436 18,501 19,331

SERvICE ONE CREDIT UNION LTD

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve

Capital 
Redemption 

Account
Retained 

Profits

General 
Reserve for 

Credit Losses
General 
Reserve Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening – 1st July 2007 402 261 - 436 17,306 18,405

Profit / (loss) for the year - - 2,144 - - 2,144

Transfer from / (to) general reserve (402) - (2,020) - 2,422 -

Transfer from / (to) capital 
redemption reserve

- 124 (124) - - -

Closing – 30th June 2008 - 385 - 436 19,728 20,549

Opening – 1st July 2008 - 385 - 436 19,728 20,549

Profit / (loss) for the year - - (1,418) - - (1,418)

Transfer from / (to) general reserve - - 1,427 - (1,427) -

Transfer (from) / to capital 
redemption reserve

- 9 (9) - - -

Closing – 30th June 2009 - 394 - 436 18,301 19,131

STATEMENT OF ChANGES IN EqUITY



For the year ended 30 June 2009 Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

CASh FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIvITIES

Interest received 19,956 19,032 19,956 19,032

Interest costs (10,617) (7,764) (10,617) (7,764)

Fees and commissions received 3,851 4,175 3,851 4,175

Payments to suppliers and employees (12,037) (12,017) (12,037) (12,017)

GST paid (343) (328) (343) (328)

GST received 105 537 105 537

Dividends received 168 110 168 110

Income tax paid (781) (503) (781) (503)

Miscellaneous receipts 273 95 273 95

Net cash flows from operating activities 21 (a) 575 3,337 575 3,337

CASh FLOWS FROM INvESTING ACTIvITIES 

Net (increase) / decrease in investments (16,745) (12,880) (16,745) (12,880)

Net (increase) / decrease in loans to Members (1,303) (19,338) (1,303) (19,338)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 9 4,360 9 4,360

Payments for intangibles, property, plant and equipment (1,981) (1,262) (1,981) (1,262)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (20,020) (29,120) (20,020) (29,120)

CASh FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIvITIES

Net increase in deposits from Members 12,821 29,077 12,821 29,077

Net cash flows from financing activities 12,821 29,077 12,821 29,077

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held (6,624) 3,294 (6,624) 3,294

Cash at beginning of year 9,397 6,103 9,397 6,103

CLOSING CASh CARRIED FORWARD 21 (b) 2,773 9,397 2,773 9,397

STATEMENT OF CASh FLOWS
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Service One Credit Union Ltd (the Credit Union) is a company 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The Members are the 
owners of the Credit Union. 

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Credit 
Union are described in the Directors’ Report.

The registered office is at 75 Denison Street Deakin ACT. 

The financial report of the Credit Union for the year ended 30th 
June 2009 was authorised for issuance with a resolution of the 
Board of Directors on 14th August 2009.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

(a) Basis of Preparation

The general purpose financial report has been prepared 
in accordance with Australian equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), the Corporations Act 
2001, applicable accounting standards and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements. The financial report has also 
been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets 
and financial liabilities, which have been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with industry 
standard and those of the previous year. 

The balance sheet is presented on a liquidity basis. Assets and 
liabilities are presented in decreasing order of liquidity and are 
not distinguished between current and non-current. Additional 
information regarding this is included in the relevant notes. 

The financial report is presented in Australian Dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000), unless 
otherwise stated, under the option available to the Credit Union 
under ASIC class order 98/100. The Credit Union is an entity to 
which this class order applies.

(b) Statement of Compliance

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards 
as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board. 

(c) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have 
recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective have 
not been adopted by the Credit Union for the annual reporting 
period ended 30 June 2009:

NOTES TO ThE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ThE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

Reference Title Summary
Application date 
of standard

Nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date of 
standard/ 
interpretation

AASB Int. 
18 

Transfers of 
Assets from 
Customers

This Interpretation provides guidance 
on the transfer of assets such as items of 
property, plant and equipment or transfers 
of cash received from customers. The 
Interpretation provides guidance on when 
and how an entity should recognise such 
assets and discusses the timing of revenue 
recognition for such arrangements and 
requires that once the asset meets the 
condition to be recognised at fair value, it is 
accounted for as an ‘exchange transaction’.

Once an exchange transaction occurs the 
entity is considered to have delivered a 
service in exchange for receiving the asset. 

Entities must identify each identifiable 
service within the agreement and recognise 
revenue as each service is delivered.

Applies 
prospectively 
to transfer of 
assets from 
customers 
received on or 
after 1 July 2009

No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009



2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

Reference Title Summary
Application date 
of standard

Nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date of 
standard/ 
interpretation

AASB 8 
and AASB 
2007-3

Operating 
Segments and 
consequential 
amendments 
to other 
Australian 
Accounting 
Standards

New Standard replacing AASB 114 Segment 
Reporting, which adopts a management 
reporting approach to segment reporting.

1 January 2009 No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 1039 
(revised)

Concise 
Reporting

AASB 1039 was revised in August 2008 to 
achieve consistency with AASB 8 Operating 
Segments. The revisions include changes 
to terminology and descriptions to ensure 
consistency with the revised AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements.

1 January 2009 No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 101 
(revised), 
AASB  
2007-8 
and AASB 
2007-10

Presentation 
of Financial 
Statements and 
consequential 
amendments 
to other 
Australian 
Accounting 
Standards

Introduces a statement of comprehensive 
income. 

Other revisions include impacts on the 
presentation of items in the statement 
of changes in equity, new presentation 
requirements for restatements or 
reclassifications of items in the financial 
statements, changes in the presentation 
requirements for dividends and changes to 
the titles of the financial statements.

1 January 2009 No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 
2008-2

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
– Puttable 
Financial 
Instruments 
and 
Obligations 
arising on 
Liquidation

The amendments provide a limited 
exception to the definition of a liability so 
as to allow an entity that issues puttable 
financial instruments with certain specified 
features, to classify those instruments as 
equity rather than financial liabilities.

1 January 2009 No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009

NOTES TO ThE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ThE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

Reference Title Summary
Application date 
of standard

Nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date of 
standard/ 
interpretation

AASB 3 
(revised)

Business 
Combinations

The revised Standard introduces a number 
of changes to the accounting for business 
combinations, the most significant of 
which includes the requirement to have 
to expense transaction costs and a choice 
(for each business combination entered 
into) to measure a non-controlling interest 
(formerly a minority interest) in the 
acquiree either at its fair value or at its 
proportionate interest in the acquiree’s net 
assets. This choice will effectively result in 
recognising goodwill relating to 100% of 
the business (applying the fair value option) 
or recognising goodwill relating to the 
percentage interest acquired. The changes 
apply prospectively.

1 July 2009 No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 127 
(revised)

Consolidated 
and Separate 
Financial 
Statements

There are a number of changes arising 
from the revision to AASB 127 relating 
to changes in ownership interest in a 
subsidiary without loss of control, allocation 
of losses of a subsidiary and accounting 
for the loss of control of a subsidiary. 
Specifically in relation to a change in the 
ownership interest of a subsidiary (that 
does not result in loss of control) – such 
a transaction will be accounted for as an 
equity transaction.

1 July 2009 No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 
2008-3

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
arising from 
AASB 3 and 
AASB 127

Amending Standard issued as a 
consequence of revisions to AASB 3 and 
AASB 127. Refer above.

1 July 2009 No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009

NOTES TO ThE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ThE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009



2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

Reference Title Summary
Application date 
of standard

Nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date of 
standard/ 
interpretation

AASB 
2008-5

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
arising from 
the Annual 
Improvements 
Project

The improvements project is an annual 
project that provides a mechanism for 
making non-urgent, but necessary, 
amendments to IFRSs. The IASB has 
separated the amendments into two 
parts: Part 1 deals with changes the IASB 
identified resulting in accounting changes; 
Part II deals with either terminology 
or editorial amendments that the IASB 
believes will have minimal impact. 

This was the first omnibus of amendments 
issued by the IASB arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project and it is expected 
that going forward, such improvements 
will be issued annually to remove 
inconsistencies and clarify wording in the 
standards.

The AASB issued these amendments in two 
separate amending standards; one dealing 
with the accounting changes effective 
from 1 January 2009 and the other dealing 
with amendments to AASB 5, which will be 
applicable from 1 July 2009 [refer below 
AASB 2008-6].

1 January 2009 No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 
2008-6

Further 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
arising from 
the Annual 
Improvements 
Project

This was the second omnibus of 
amendments issued by the IASB arising 
from the Annual Improvements Project.

Refer to AASB 2008-5 above for more 
details.

1 July 2009 No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009

NOTES TO ThE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ThE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

Reference Title Summary
Application date 
of standard

Nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date of 
standard/ 
interpretation

AASB 
2008-7

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Cost of an 
Investment in 
a Subsidiary, 
Jointly 
Controlled 
Entity or 
Associate

The main amendments of relevance to 
Australian entities are those made to 
AASB 127 deleting the “cost method” and 
requiring all dividends from a subsidiary, 
jointly controlled entity or associate to be 
recognised in profit or loss in an entity’s 
separate financial statements (i.e., parent 
company accounts). The distinction between 
pre- and post-acquisition profits is no longer 
required. However, the payment of such 
dividends requires the entity to consider 
whether there is an indicator of impairment.

AASB 127 has also been amended to 
effectively allow the cost of an investment 
in a subsidiary, in limited reorganisations, to 
be based on the previous carrying amount 
of the subsidiary (that is, share of equity) 
rather than its fair value.

1 January 2009 No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 
2008-8

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Eligible Hedged 
Items

The amendment to AASB 139 clarifies how 
the principles underlying hedge accounting 
should be applied when (i) a one-sided risk 
in a hedged item is being hedged and (ii) 
inflation in a financial hedged item existed 
or was likely to exist.

1 July 2009 No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 
2009-2

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Improving 
Disclosures 
about Financial 
Instruments 
[AASB 4, AASB 
7, AASB 1023 & 
AASB 1038]

The main amendment to AASB 7 requires 
fair value measurements to be disclosed by 
the source of inputs, using the following 
three-level hierarchy:

•	 quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	
markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(Level 1);

•	 inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	
in Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly (as prices) or 
indirectly (derived from prices) (Level 2); 
and

•	 inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability	that	are	
not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

These amendments arise from the issuance 
of Improving Disclosures about Financial 
Instruments (Amendments to IFRS 7) by the 
IASB in March 2009.

The amendments to AASB 4, AASB 1023 
and AASB 1038 comprise editorial changes 
resulting from the amendments to AASB 7.

Annual 
reporting 
periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2009 that end 
on or after 30 
April 2009.

No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009

NOTES TO ThE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ThE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009



2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

Reference Title Summary
Application date 
of standard

Nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date of 
standard/ 
interpretation

AASB 
2009-4

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
arising from 
the Annual 
Improvements 
Project

[AASB 2 and 
AASB 138 
and AASB 
Interpretations 
9 & 16]

The amendments to some Standards result 
in accounting changes for presentation, 
recognition or measurement purposes, 
while some amendments that relate to 
terminology and editorial changes are 
expected to have no or minimal effect 
on accounting.

The main amendment of relevance to 
Australian entities is that made to IFRIC 16 
which allows qualifying hedge instruments 
to be held by any entity or entities 
within the group, including the foreign 
operation itself, as long as the designation, 
documentation and effectiveness 
requirements in AASB 139 that relate to a 
net investment hedge are satisfied. More 
hedging relationships will be eligible 
for hedge accounting as a result of the 
amendment.

These amendments arise from the issuance 
of the IASB’s Improvements to IFRSs. The 
amendments pertaining to IFRS 5, 8, IAS 1,7, 
17, 36 and 39 have been issued in Australia 
as AASB 2009-5 (refer below).

1 July 2009 No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 
2009-5

Further 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
arising from 
the Annual 
Improvements 
Project

[AASB 5, 8, 101, 
107, 117, 118, 
136 & 139]

The amendments to some Standards result 
in accounting changes for presentation, 
recognition or measurement purposes, 
while some amendments that relate to 
terminology and editorial changes are 
expected to have no or minimal effect 
on accounting.

The main amendment of relevance to 
Australian entities is that made to AASB 
117 by removing the specific guidance on 
classifying land as a lease so that only the 
general guidance remains. Assessing land 
leases based on the general criteria may 
result in more land leases being classified 
as finance leases and if so, the type of 
asset which is to be recorded (intangible  
v property, plant and equipment) needs to 
be determined.

These amendments arise from the issuance 
of the IASB’s Improvements to IFRSs. The 
AASB has issued the amendments to IFRS 2, 
IAS 38, IFRIC 9 as AASB 2009-4 (refer above).

1 January 2010 No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2010
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

Reference Title Summary
Application date 
of standard

Nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date of 
standard/ 
interpretation

AASB  
2009-Y

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards

[AASB 5, 7, 
107, 112, 136 
& 139 and 
Interpretation 
17]

These comprise editorial amendments and 
are expected to have no major impact 
on the requirements of the amended 
pronouncements.

1 July 2009 No change to 
accounting 
policy required. 
Therefore no 
impact.

1 July 2009
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(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash 
at bank and in hand. For the purposes of the statement of cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash on hand and in 
banks, and money market investments readily convertible to cash 
within 2 working days, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(e) Receivables Due From Other Financial Institutions

Receivables due from other financial institutions consist of short 
term deposits and are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.

Interest is accrued on a monthly basis and recognised when 
earned.

(f) Loans and Advances

Loans and advances are financial assets with fixed and 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
These assets, including loans to key management personnel, are 
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 
and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

The loan interest is calculated on the daily balance outstanding 
and is charged in arrears to a Member’s account monthly.

(g) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Credit Union enters into interest rate swap contracts for 
managing interest rate risk that arises from re-pricing gaps 
between assets and liabilities and does not enter into these swaps 
for speculative purposes. However, the derivative instruments 
have not been designated as hedges for accounting purposes.  
See Note 31 (d) for derivative financial instrument disclosures.

Interest rate swap contracts are recognised at fair value in the 
balance sheet. Gains and losses are recognised in the income 
statement as part of net interest income. Interest rate swap 
contracts are recognised as an asset when their value is positive 
and as a liability when their value is negative.

(h) Property, Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less, where applicable, 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Where lease agreements include a requirement to restore 
the site to its original condition, an estimate of those costs is 
included in leasehold improvements and depreciated over the 
lease term.

Land and buildings are subsequently measured at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation on buildings and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, 
plant and equipment, other than leasehold land.

Major depreciation periods are:

2009 2008

•	 Freehold	buildings	 N/A 40 years

•	 Leasehold	improvements	 the lease term the lease term

•	 	Plant,	equipment	and	
computer system

3 to 7 years 3 to 15 years



Revaluations

Following initial recognition at cost, land and buildings are 
carried at a revalued amount which is the fair value at the date of 
the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation on 
buildings and any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Fair value is determined by reference to market based 
evidence, which is the amount for which the assets could be 
exchanged between a knowledgeable willing buyer and a 
knowledgeable willing seller in an arm’s length transaction as 
at the valuation date.

Any revaluation increment is credited to the asset revaluation 
reserve included in the equity section of the balance sheet, except 
to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same 
asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the 
increase is recognised in profit or loss.

Any revaluation decrease is recognised in profit or loss, except 
that a decrease offsetting a previous revaluation increase for the 
same asset is debited directly to the asset revaluation reserve to 
the extent of the credit balance in the revaluation reserve for 
that asset.

Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular 
asset being sold is transferred to general reserves.

Independent valuations are performed with sufficient regularity 
to ensure that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from 
the assets’ fair value at the balance sheet date.

Impairment

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with the 
recoverable amount being estimated when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 
The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the 
higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash 
inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs, unless the asset’s 
value in use can be estimated to be close to its fair value. 
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash-
generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 
The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its 
recoverable amount.

For plant and equipment, impairment losses are recognised in the 
income statement.

(i) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and following 
initial recognition, at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets include the 
value of computer software. 

Intangible assets are amortised over their useful life and assessed 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
intangible assets may be impaired.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite 
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised 
over the useful life and assessed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an 
intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at 
each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or 
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the 
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is a change 
in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangibles 
with finite useful lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense 
category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

All recognised intangible assets have been assessed as having a 
finite useful life and the major amortisation periods are:

2009 2008

•	 Computer	software 3 to 15 years 3 to 15 years
  

(j) Deposits and Borrowings

Deposits

All Member deposits are initially recognised at the fair value 
of the amount received. After initial recognition, deposits are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. 

Interest is calculated on the daily balance and posted to the 
accounts periodically, or on maturity of the term deposit. Interest 
on savings is brought to account on an accrual basis. The amount 
of the accrual is shown as part of trade and other payables.

Borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in the income statement over the period of the loan 
and borrowings using the effective interest rate method.

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.
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(k) Employee Benefits

Wages, Salaries, Annual Leave and Sick Leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave expected to 
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised 
in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the 
reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected 
to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-
accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken 
and are measured at the rates paid or payable. 

Long Service Leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision 
for employee benefits and measured at the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date using a 
probability based assessment method. Consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures, and period of service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the reporting date on bank 
bill swap rates with terms to maturity that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

Superannuation

Contributions are made by the Credit Union to an employee’s 
superannuation fund and are charged to the income statement 
as incurred.

(l) Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost 
and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the 
Credit Union prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid 
and arise when the Credit Union becomes obligated to make 
future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and 
services. Trade liabilities are normally settled on 30 day terms.

(m) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Credit Union has a present 
obligation (legal, equitable or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Credit Union expects some or all of a provision to 
be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when 
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to 
any provision is presented in the income statement net of any 
reimbursement. 

If the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks 
specific to the liability. 

When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost.

(n) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognised: 

Fees and Commissions

Loan fees are brought to account as income in the year of receipt. 
No loan fees were in excess of costs. Fee and commission income 
is recognised as revenue on an accrual basis.

Interest

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest 
income or expense is recorded in the income statement at the 
effective rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the 
financial instrument or a shorter period where appropriate, to 
the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.

Dividend Income 

Dividend income is recorded in non-interest income when the 
Credit Union’s right to receive the payment is established.

(o) Comparative Figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to 
conform with changes presented in these financial statements.

(p) Operating Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a 
lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires 
an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement 
is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Operating lease incentives are recognised as a liability when 
received and subsequently reduced by allocating lease payments 
between rental expense and reduction of the liability.

(q) Taxes

Income Taxes

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods 
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). The tax rates and tax 
laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the 
balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
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Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at 
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it 
has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or subsequently enacted at the 
balance date.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are 
recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a 
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 
of GST except:

•	 where	the	GST	incurred	on	a	purchase	of	goods	and	services	
is not recoverable from the ATO, in which case the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense item as applicable, and

•	 receivables	and	payables	are	stated	with	the	amount	of	
GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 
is included as part of receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross 
basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, 
the ATO, are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO.

(r) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are those of the 
consolidated entity, comprising the Credit Union and all entities 
that the Credit Union controlled from time to time during the 
year and at balance date. 

Information from the financial statements of subsidiaries is 
included from the date the parent company obtains control 
until such time as control ceases. Where there is loss of control 
of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial statements include 
the results for the part of the reporting period during which the 
parent company has control.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the 
same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent 
accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any 
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. 

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised 
profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been 
eliminated in full.

(s) Investments

Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair 
value through the profit and loss, loans and receivables, held-
to-maturity investments, or available for sale investments, as 
appropriate. The Credit Union determines the classification of 
financial assets after initial recognition and, when appropriate, 
re-evaluates the classification at the end of each year.

All investments have been classified as available-for-sale 
investments as at the end of the year.

Available for sale investments are those non-derivative financial 
assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified 
as financial assets at fair value, as a loan or receivable or as a held-
to-maturity investment. After initial recognition available-for-
sale investments are measured at fair value with gains or losses 
being recognised as a separate component of equity until the 
investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined 
to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss 
previously reported in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised 
financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market 
bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For 
investments with no active market, fair value is determined using 
valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s 
length market transactions, reference to current market value of 
another instrument that is substantially the same and discounted 
cash flow analysis. For investments in equity instruments that do 
not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose 
fair value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost.
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(t) Nature and Purpose of Members’ Funds

General Reserve

Any unappropriated profit / loss from the Credit Union’s 
operations is transferred to / from the General Reserve. The 
General Reserve contains amounts of retained profits that have 
been set aside by the Directors for the purpose of funding future 
operations of the Credit Union.

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Any revaluation increments or decrements of non-current assets 
are recorded in the Asset Revaluation Reserve.

Capital Redemption Account

Under the Corporations Act 2001 redeemable preference 
shares (Member shares) may only be redeemed out of profits 
or from a new share issue for the purposes of redemption. The 
Capital Redemption Account represents the shares redeemed by 
Members. Member shares for existing and new Members of the 
Credit Union are shown as liabilities.

General Reserve for Credit Losses

The general reserve for credit losses is based on 0.5% of those 
Risk Weighted Assets for which a specific provision has not 
already been raised. Risk Weighted Assets are calculated using the 
formula of APRA’s Prudential Standards. 

(u) Significant Accounting Judgements,  
Estimates, and Assumptions

In the process of applying the Credit Union’s accounting 
policies, management has used its judgement and made 
estimates in determining the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. The most significant use of judgements and estimates 
are as follows: 

Classification of and valuation of Investments

The Credit Union has decided to classify investments in unlisted 
securities as available-for-sale investments and movements in 
fair value are recognised directly in equity. The fair values of 
unlisted securities not traded in an active market are recorded 
at historical cost. 

Recovery of Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary 
differences as management considers that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences. 

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

The Credit Union assesses impairment of all assets at each 
reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Credit 
Union and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. 

These include product performance, technology, economic and 
political environments and future product expectations. If an 
impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is determined. This involves value in use calculations, which 
incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions.

Long Service Leave Provision

Liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made 
in respect of all employees at balance date. In determining the 
present value of the liability, attrition rates and pay increases 
through promotion and inflation have been taken into account.

Estimation of Useful Lives of Assets

The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on 
historical experience as well as manufacturers’ warranties (for 
plant and equipment), lease terms (for leased equipment). In 
addition, the condition of the assets is assessed at least once 
per year and considered against the remaining useful life. 
Adjustments to useful life are made when considered necessary. 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
reasonable expectations of future events. Management 
believes the estimates used in preparing the financial report 
are reasonable. Actual results in the future may differ from 
those reported. 

Impairment of Loans and Advances

The Credit Union reviews its problem loans at each reporting 
date to assess whether an allowance for impairment should 
be recorded in the income statement. In particular, judgement 
by management is required in the estimation of the amount 
and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of 
allowance required. Such estimates are based on assumptions 
about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting 
in future changes to the allowance.

In addition to specific allowances against individually significant 
loans and advances, the Credit Union also makes a collective 
impairment allowance against exposures, which, although not 
specifically identified as requiring a specific allowance, have a 
greater risk of default than when originally granted. This takes 
into consideration factors such as any deterioration in industry, 
technological obsolescence, as well as identified structural 
weaknesses or deterioration in cash flows.

Make Good Provisions

A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated 
costs of future restoration of leased Branch premises. The 
provision includes future cost estimates associated with 
dismantling furniture and fittings. The calculation of this 
provision requires assumptions which may result in future actual 
expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided. 
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The provision recognised for each Branch is periodically reviewed 
and updated based on the facts and circumstances available at 
the time. Changes to the estimated future costs for Branches are 
recognised in the balance sheet by adjusting both the expense or 
asset (if applicable) and provision.

(v) Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

A financial asset is derecognised where:

•	 the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	have	expired,	or

•	 the	Credit	Union	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third 
party unless under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement, and

•	 either	(a)	the	Credit	Union	has	transferred	substantially	all	
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Credit Union has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Credit Union has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the 
Credit Union’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing 
involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying 
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration 
that the Credit Union could be required to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification 
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability, and the 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in 
profit or loss.

(w) Impairment of Loans and Advances

The Credit Union assesses at each balance date whether there is 
any objective evidence that a loan and advance to a Member, or a 
group of loans and advances, is impaired. A loan and advance, or 
a group of loans and advances, is deemed to be impaired if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of 
one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or 
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
loans and advances or group of loans and advances that can 
be reliably estimated. Objective evidence of impairment may 
include indications that the borrower, or a group of borrowers 
is experiencing financial difficulty, default or delinquency in 

interest or principal payments, the probability that they will 
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where 
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in 
the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or 
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment 
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the 
allowance account. 

Bad debts are written off when identified. Identification may 
include: bankruptcy, clearout or unlikelihood of recovery. If a 
provision for impairment has been recognised in relation to a 
loan, write offs for bad debts are made against the provision. 
If no provision for impairment has previously been recognised, 
write offs for bad debts are recognised as expenses in the 
income statement.

(x) Renegotiated Loans and Advances

Where possible, the Credit Union seeks to restructure loans rather 
than to take possession of collateral. This may involve extending 
the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan 
conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, the loan 
is no longer considered past due. Management continuously 
reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and 
that future payments are likely to occur. The loans continue to 
be subject to an individual or collective impairment assessment, 
calculated using the loan’s original effective interest rate.
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3. INTEREST REvENUE AND INTEREST EXPENSE

The following tables show the average balance for each of the major categories of interest-bearing assets and liabilities, the amount of 
interest revenue or expense and the average interest rate. Most averages are month-end averages.

Notes Consolidated

Average Balance Interest
Average  

Interest Rate

$’000 $’000 %

Interest revenue 2008

Cash and cash equivalents 8,494 295 3.47

Receivables due from other financial institutions 30,695 2,131 6.94

Loans and advances 203,298 16,687 8.21

242,487 19,113 7.88

Interest expense 2008

Member deposits 224,334 8,370 3.73

Borrowings 613 36 5.87

224,947 8,406 3.74

Interest rate swaps – change in fair value (85)

 – interest revenue (9)

8,312

Net interest income 2008 10,801

Interest revenue 2009

Cash and cash equivalents 10,865 282 2.60

Receivables due from other financial institutions 51,226 2,744 5.36

Loans and advances 211,904 16,277 7.68

273,995 19,303 7.05

Interest expense 2009

Member deposits 253,478 9,931 3.92

Borrowings 377 60 15.92

253,855 9,991 3.94

Interest rate swaps – change in fair value 1,210

 – interest expense 642

11,843

Net interest income 2009 7,460
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4. OThER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES
Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other operating income

Fees and commissions income

Loan fee income 669 425 669 425

Other fee income 2,843 3,265 2,843 3,265

Insurance commissions 175 264 175 264

Other commissions 164 221 164 221

3,851 4,175 3,851 4,175

Other operating revenue

Bad debts recovered 47 68 47 68

Other 394 137 394 137

441 205 441 205

Other operating income

Net gain from sale of plant and equipment 4 1,068 4 1,068

4 1,068 4 1,068

Other operating income 4,296 5,448 4,296 5,448

Other expenses

Depreciation 

Plant and equipment 347 366 347 366

Leasehold improvements 451 456 451 456

Computer system 250 368 250 368

1,048 1,190 1,048 1,190

General and administration costs

Personnel 5,344 4,900 5,344 4,900

Insurance, compliance and legal 293 366 293 366

Occupancy 281 301 281 301

Marketing 333 647 333 647

Printing, stationery and production 121 117 121 117

Cash delivery charges 390 396 390 396

Communications 323 278 323 278

Maintenance and support 575 449 575 449

Members’ transaction related costs 1,813 2,017 1,813 2,017

Other 1,588 1,498 1,588 1,498

11,061 10,969 11,061 10,969

Rental – operating leases 1,280 1,123 1,280 1,123

Other provisions 

Provision for employee benefits 82 38 82 38

Other expenses 13,471 13,320 13,471 13,320
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5. INCOME TAX
The major components of income tax are:

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income statement

Current income tax

Current income tax benefit / (expense) 259 (828) 259 (828)

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of 
previous years

(241) (2) (241) (2)

Deferred income tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary 
differences

355 137 355 137

Income tax benefit / (expense) reported in the income 
statement

373 (693) 373 (693)

A reconciliation between tax benefit / (expense) and the product of accounting (loss) / profit before tax multiplied by the applicable tax 
rate is as follows:

Accounting (loss) / profit before income tax (1,791) 2,837 (1,791) 2,837

Income tax at 30% 537 (851) 537 (851)

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of  
previous year

(241) (2) (241) (2)

Rebatable dividend payments 50 47 50 47

Other non-deductible expenses 27 113 27 113

Income tax reported in the income statement 373 (693) 373 (693)

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes 83 118 83 118

Swaps at fair value - 26 - 26

Other receivables 9 15 9 15

92 159 92 159
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5. INCOME TAX (CONT)

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred tax assets

Employee provisions 186 138 183 138

Provision for doubtful debts 11 15 11 15

Other provisions 68 60 68 60

Carried forward tax loss 162 - 162 -

Swaps at fair value 337 - 337 -

Accrued expenses 5 9 5 9

769 222 769 222

6. CASh AND CASh EqUIvALENTS

Cash on hand and at banks 5,463 3,739 5,463 3,739

Deposits at call - 5,805 - 5,805

31 (a) 5,463 9,544 5,463 9,544

Cash at bank and deposits at call earn interest at floating rates on a daily basis. These deposits are available within a maximum of  
two working days.

7. RECEIvABLES DUE FROM OThER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Interest bearing deposits with CUSCAL Ltd (CUSCAL) 53,457 36,765 53,457 36,765

Bank accepted bills of exchange 1,068 1,015 1,068 1,015

Other Credit Union receivables 2 2 2 2

31 (a) 54,527 37,782 54,527 37,782

Maturity analysis

Not longer than 3 months 53,459 29,166 53,459 29,166

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 1,068 8,616 1,068 8,616

54,527 37,782 54,527 37,782

8. ACCRUED RECEIvABLES

Interest receivable 31 (a) 263 916 263 916
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9. LOANS AND ADvANCES

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Overdrafts 16,346 18,650 16,346 18,650

Mortgage loans 129,846 129,164 129,846 129,164

Other 67,853 65,017 67,853 65,017

Provision for impairment 9 (c) (37) (50) (37) (50)

Net loans and advances 214,008 212,781 214,008 212,781

(a) Maturity analysis 

Overdrafts 16,346 18,650 16,346 18,650

Not longer than 3 months 3,199 2,976 3,199 2,976

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 10,887 9,662 10,887 9,662

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years 48,322 35,722 48,322 35,722

Longer than 5 years 135,254 145,771 135,254 145,771

Net loans and advances 214,008 212,781 214,008 212,781

(b) Concentration of Risk

The loan portfolio of the Credit Union does not include any loan that represents 10% or more of capital.

There are no loans to Members concentrated to individuals employed in a particular industry. 

Loans to Members are concentrated solely in Australia and principally in the Australian Capital Territory and Southern NSW.
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9. LOANS AND ADvANCES (CONT)

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(c) Provision for impairment

Specific provision

Opening balance

Overdrafts 24 27 24 27

Other loans 26 14 26 14

Total opening balance 50 41 50 41

Bad debts previously provided for written off during the year

Overdrafts (39) (52) (39) (52)

Other loans (39) (19) (39) (19)

Total bad debts previously provided for written off during  
the year

(78) (71) (78) (71)

Bad and doubtful debts provided for during the year for 
overdrafts and other loans

65 80 65 80

37 50 37 50

Closing balance

Overdrafts 14 24 14 24

Other loans 23 26 23 26

Total closing balance 37 50 37 50

Charge to income statement for impairment losses on loans 
and advances comprises:

Specific provision 65 80 65 80

Items not specifically provided for and charged directly to the 
expense account 

11 12 11 12

Total impairment losses on loans and advances 76 92 76 92

The specific provision for impairment includes the provision required under the prudential standards at 30 June 2009, and a provision for 
specifically identified individual loans.

At balance date there were no loans or advances classified as renegotiated.
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10. IMPAIRMENT OF LOANS AND ADvANCES

The policy covering impaired loans and advances is set out in Note 2.

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Impaired loans with specific provision 
for impairment

Balances with specific provisions for impairment 67 85 67 85

Specific provision for impairment (37) (50) (37) (50)

Net impaired loans with specific provision for impairment 30 35 30 35

Impaired loans without specific provision  
for impairment

Balance without specific provision for impairment 67 72 67 72

Net impaired loans 97 107 97 107

11. OThER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Interest rate swaps – at fair value - 85 - 85

- 85 - 85

12. AvAILABLE FOR SALE INvESTMENTS

Shares in Transaction Solutions Pty Ltd – at cost 410 410 410 410

Shares in CUSCAL – at cost 884 884 884 884

Shares in Credit Union Technology Development Ltd 
–  at cost

2 2 2 2

Investment in Australian Capital Fund Pty Ltd  
–  at cost

126 126 - -

Investment in ACV Investment Trust Number 1 
–  at cost

74 74 - -

31 (a) 1,496 1,496 1,296 1,296
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12. AvAILABLE FOR SALE INvESTMENTS (CONT)

(a) Unlisted shares

No active market exists for equity investments in Transaction Solutions Pty Ltd, CUSCAL, and Credit Union Technology Development Ltd. 
Their fair value cannot be reliably measured, as a result these investments are measured at cost.

The financial reports of the above entities have a net tangible asset backing per shares which exceeds their cost value. Based on the net 
assets of the entities, any fair value determination of these shares is likely to be greater than the cost value, but due to the absence of a 
ready market and restrictions on the ability to transfer the shares, a market value is not able to be determined.

The Credit Union is not intending, nor able to dispose of these shares without a majority of shareholder approval.

(b) Other available for sale investments

No active market exists for investments in Australian Capital Fund Pty Ltd or ACV Investment Trust Number 1 and so their fair value 
cannot be reliably measured. As a result, these investments are measured at cost.

Investment in controlled entity

Investment in controlled entity comprises:

Name Country of incorporation
Percentage of equity interest 
held by the economic entity

2009 2008 2009 2008

% % $ $

CUC No 1 Pty Ltd Australia

– ordinary shares 100 100 2 2
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Leasehold improvements

At cost 2,459 2,326 2,459 2,326

Provision for depreciation (1,367) (1,246) (1,367) (1,246)

Total leasehold improvements 1,092 1,080 1,092 1,080

Plant and equipment

At cost 1,719 2,497 1,719 2,497

Provision for depreciation (1,000) (1,572) (1,000) (1,572)

Total plant and equipment 719 925 719 925

Total written down value 1,811 2,005 1,811 2,005

Reconciliation of carrying amount of property, 
plant and equipment for the financial year.

Leasehold improvements

Carrying amount at beginning of year 1,080 717 1,080 717

Additions 463 146 463 146

Transfer from leasehold land and buildings - 673 - 673

Depreciation (451) (456) (451) (456)

Carrying amount at end of year 1,092 1,080 1,092 1,080
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT (CONT) 

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Plant and equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of year 925 840 925 840

Additions 259 521 259 521

Disposals (5) - (5) -

Transfer to intangibles (113) - (113) -

Transfer from leasehold land and buildings - (70) - (70)

Depreciation (347) (366) (347) (366)

Carrying amount at end of year 719 925 719 925

Property, plant and equipment are subject to:

a) fixed and floating charge to secure credit facilities provided by CUSCAL.

b) a floating charge executed under the Emergency Liquidity Support System to secure an advance that may be made to the  
Credit Union under the scheme.

14. INTANGIBLES

Computer software at cost 2,667 2,065 2,667 2,065

Provision for amortisation (849) (1,369) (849) (1,369)

Total written down value 1,818 696 1,818 696

Reconciliation of carrying amount of  
intangibles for the financial year.

Carrying amount at beginning of year 696 625 696 625

Additions 1,259 439 1,259 439

Transfer from plant and equipment 113 - 113 -

Amortisation (250) (368) (250) (368)

Carrying amount at end of year 1,818 696 1,818 696

15. OThER ASSETS

Prepayments 124 290 124 290

Other 143 257 143 257

267 547 267 547

16. PAYABLE TO OThER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Other Credit Union payables 17 4 17 4
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17. DEPOSITS AND BORROWINGS

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Call deposits 137,870 120,500 137,870 120,500

Term deposits 115,773 120,322 115,773 120,322

253,643 240,822 253,643 240,822

Borrowings 2,690 147 2,690 147

256,333 240,969 256,333 240,969

(a) Deposits

Maturity analysis

At call 137,870 120,500 137,870 120,500

Not longer than 3 months 71,452 61,447 71,452 61,447

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 40,281 54,808 40,281 54,808

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years 4,040 4,067 4,040 4,067

31 (a) 253,643 240,822 253,643 240,822

Included in call deposits above is an amount of $312,659 (2008: $309,448) representing Member shares. These shares are withdrawable 
by Members on resignation from the Credit Union.

Concentration of deposits

The Credit Union’s deposit portfolio does not include any deposit that represents 10% or more of total liabilities.

Member deposits were predominantly received from individuals employed in Australia. There are no significant groups of  
Members concentrated in any particular industry.

(b) Borrowings

Unsecured

Bank overdrafts – other financial institution - 147 - 147

Secured

Overdraft – CUSCAL 2,690 - 2,690 -

Total borrowings 2,690 147 2,690 147

Credit facilities provided by CUSCAL are secured by a fixed 
and floating charge over all of the assets and undertakings 
of the Credit Union.

Maturity analysis

Not longer than 3 months 2,690 147 2,690 147

31 (a) 2,690 147 2,690 147
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18. OThER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest rate swaps – at fair value 1,125 - 1,125 -

1,125 - 1,125 -

19. PAYABLES

Trade creditors 31 (a) 219 191 219 191

Employee benefits

Annual Leave 399 283 399 283

Accrued salaries, wages and on costs 138 107 138 107

Accrued interest payable 31 (a) 2,409 2,308 2,409 2,308

Other creditors 31 (a) 110 389 110 389

3,275 3,278 3,275 3,278

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

20. PROvISIONS

Employee benefits

Long service leave 196 177 196 177

Make good on leased premises 227 198 227 198

423 375 423 375
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20. PROvISIONS (CONT)

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Provision for make good

 Carrying amount at beginning of year 198 100 198 100

 Arising during the year 65 96 65 96

 Unused amounts reversed (74) (5) (74) (5)

 Discount rate adjustments 38 7 38 7

Carrying amount at end of year 227 198 227 198

In accordance with Branch and ATM lease agreements the Credit Union must restore the leased premises to their original condition 
before the expiry of the lease term.

During the year, $74,540 was reversed for costs that were not incurred on the renewal of Branch leases and $65,079 was recognised in 
respect of the new leases.

Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the uncertainty in estimating the provision and the costs that will ultimately be  
incurred, the provision has been discounted using bank bill swap rates that match as closely as possible the remaining term of  
each lease agreement.

21. STATEMENT OF CASh FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of the operating profit / (loss) 
after tax to the net cash flows from operations

(Loss) / profit from ordinary activities after tax (1,418) 2,144 (1,418) 2,144

Charge for bad and doubtful debts 76 92 76 92

Depreciation and amortisation 1,048 1,190 1,048 1,190

Net (gain) / loss on disposal of plant and equipment (4) (1,068) (4) (1,068)

Changes in assets and liabilities

Interest receivable 653 (81) 653 (81)

Other receivables 106 409 106 409

Provisions and payables (1,106) 274 (1,106) 274

Other assets and liabilities 1,220 377 1,220 377

Net cash flows from operating activities 575 3,337 575 3,337
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21. STATEMENT OF CASh FLOWS (CONT)

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(b) Reconciliation of cash

Cash balance comprises:

Cash 5,463 3,739 5,463 3,739

Other short-term liquid assets - 5,805 - 5,805

Bank overdraft (2,690) (147) (2,690) (147)

Closing cash balance 2,773 9,397 2,773 9,397

(c) Cash flows presented on a net basis

Cash flows arising from the following activities are presented on a net basis in the Statement of Cash Flows:

(i)  Member deposits to and withdrawals from deposit accounts

(ii)  borrowings and repayments on loans to Members, and

(iii)  sales and purchases of investments.

(d) Bank overdraft and loan facilities

The Credit Union has an overdraft facility available to the extent of $4,000,000 and pre-approved loan facility of $6,000,000. 
Both credit facilities are provided by CUSCAL and are secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets and undertakings 
of the Credit Union. At balance date, the bank overdraft was in use by $2,039,342 (2008: Nil) leaving $1,960,658 available (2008: 
$4,000,000) and the pre-approved loan facility was unused.

22. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

Lease expenditure commitments

Operating leases (non-cancellable)

not later than 1 year 1,091 901 1,091 901

later than 1 and not later than 5 years 3,062 1,983 3,062 1,983

later than 5 years 1,349 1,609 1,349 1,609

Aggregate lease expenditure contracted for at balance date 5,502 4,493 5,502 4,493

Non-cancellable operating leases are for Branch and Head Office premises with lease terms for up to 10 years. The leases have an 
allowance for CPI increments and options for renewal range from 1 to 10 years.
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23. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Employee benefits 

The aggregate employee benefits liability is  
comprised of: 

Accrued wages, annual leave, salaries and on costs  
(recognised as part of payables at Note 19)

537 390 537 390

Provisions for long service 20 196 177 196 177

Superannuation commitments 

All employees are entitled to varying levels of benefits on retirement, disability or death. Employees contribute to the plans at 
various percentages of their wages and salaries. The Credit Union also contributes to the plans, at the rates between 9% and 13.5% of 
employees’ salaries. Contributions by the economic entity of up to 9% of employees’ wages and salaries are legally enforceable 
in Australia.

Number of employees

The number of full-time equivalent employees at the end of the year was 72 (2008:74).

24. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CREDIT COMMITMENTS

Credit related commitments

Binding commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to Members as long as there is no violation of any condition established in 
the contract. Since some of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not 
necessarily represent future cash requirements.

Credit limits undrawn 14,400 14,233 14,400 14,233

Approved but undrawn loans 1,828 1,463 1,828 1,463

16,228 15,696 16,229 15,696

The Credit Union has issued a floating charge over all assets of the Credit Union. This has been executed under the Emergency Liquidity 
Support System to secure any advances that may be made to the Credit Union under the Scheme.

As at 30th June 2009 there were no contingent liabilities.

25. SUBSEqUENT EvENTS

There has been no transaction or event of a material or unusual nature likely to affect the operation of the Credit Union, the results 
of those operations or the state of affairs of the Credit Union.
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26. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

(a) Details of key management personnel

The Directors of the Credit Union during the year were:

Mr E M Adriaanse
Mr J C Clarke (Chair)
Professor J Corbett
Mr I Davis
Ms H Nash (appointed 15th October 2008)
Mr W C Phillips
Mrs D Robinson
Mr I Slavich (appointed 2nd February 2009)
Mr C Smeal (retired 15th October 2008).

The Executives of the Credit Union during the year were:

Mr P L Carlin Chief Executive, and
Mr M D Smith Chief Finance Officer.

See Note 26 (c) for disclosure on loans to key management personnel.

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

      2009       2008       2009       2008

        $     $         $         $

(b) Key management personnel compensation 

Short-term employee benefits 605,312 499,400 605,312 499,400

Post-employment benefits 87,916 45,229 87,916 45,229

693,228 544,629 693,228 544,629

(c) Loans to key management personnel

Loans have been made to key management personnel and spouses on terms and conditions no more favourable than those available 
on similar transactions to Members of the Credit Union.

The terms and conditions in respect of all loans to key management personnel have not been breached.

Aggregate amount outstanding at balance date 217,340 920,075 217,340 920,075

Aggregate amount of repayments received during  
the financial year

19,090 67,761 19,090 67,761

Key management personnel concerned:

Mr W Phillips and Mr I Davis.

Aggregate amount of approved overdraft facilities 16,000 36,500 16,000 36,500

Aggregate amount drawn against overdraft facilities 13,212 10,036 13,212 10,036

Key management personnel concerned:

Mr J Clarke and Mr P Carlin.

NOTES TO ThE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ThE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009



S E R V I C E  O N E  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  0 8 / 0 9

27. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Notes Consolidated Service One Credit Union Ltd

2009 2008 2009 2008

$ $ $ $

Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young for:

an audit of the financial statements of the entity and 
any other entity in the consolidated entity

– current year 86,700 70,650 86,700 70,650

tax services in relation to the entity and any other entity 
in the consolidated entity

15,379 12,845 15,379 12,845

102,079 83,495 102,079 83,495

28. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY

The Credit Union has an economic dependency on:

CUSCAL, which supplies the Credit Union rights to Visa Card in Australia and provides services in the form of settlement with bankers for 
ATM and Visa Card transactions, and the production of Visa and rediCARDs for its Members. It also provides treasury and money market 
facilities to the Credit Union.

First Data Corporation Ltd, which operates the switching computer used to link rediCARDs operated through rediATMs and other 
ATM suppliers to the Credit Union’s computer system.

Transaction Solutions Pty Ltd, which operates the computer facility on behalf of the Credit Union in conjunction with other Credit Unions.

Ultradata Australia Pty Ltd, which provides core-banking software to the Credit Union for the processing of all Member accounts and 
related activities.

29. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

See Note 26 (c) for disclosure on loans to Directors.

Shareholding

Each Director holds one $10 redeemable preference share in the Credit Union.

30. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The economic entity operates predominantly in one business and geographical segment being the finance industry within Australia.  
The operations comprise the acceptance of deposits and the provision of loans.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT)

(b) Net fair values

All financial assets and liabilities have been recognised at balance date at their net fair value.

Carrying amount as per Balance Sheet               Net fair value

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(i)  Financial assets

Cash and liquid assets 5,463 9,544 5,463 9,544

Due from other financial institutions 54,527 37,782 54,527 37,782

Accrued receivables 263 916 263 916

Loans and advances 214,008 212,781 214,008 212,781

Other financial assets - 85 - 85

Available for sale investments 1,496 1,496 N/A N/A

Total financial assets 275,757 262,604 N/A N/A

(ii)  Financial liabilities

Bank overdraft and borrowings 2,690 147 2,690 147

Deposits 253,643 240,822 254,631 240,204

Other financial liabilities 1,125 - 1,125 -

Trade creditors 219 191 219 191

Accrued interest payables 2,409 2,308 2,409 2,308

Other creditors 110 389 110 389

Total financial liabilities 260,196 243,857 261,184 243,239

Exposure to interest risks and the effective interest rates are the same for both the consolidated entity and for the Credit Union.

The following methods and assumptions are used to determine the net fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Cash and liquid assets, and due from other financial institutions: The carrying amounts approximate fair value because of their 
short-term to maturity or are receivable on demand.

Loan and advances: The fair values of loans receivable excluding impaired loans are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, 
based on current incremental lending rates for similar types of lending arrangements. The net fair value of impaired loans was calculated 
by discounting expected cash flows using a rate which includes a premium for the uncertainty of the flows.

Available-for-sale investments: Available for sale investments are carried at cost, as their fair value cannot be reliably measured. 
Refer to Note 12.

Payables to other financial institutions: The carrying amount approximates fair value because of their short-term to maturity. 

Deposits and borrowings: The carrying amount approximates fair value for on call deposits and borrowings because of their short-term 
to maturity. For deposits that are long-term, the fair value is calculated by discounting the expected cash flows at prevailing interest rates.

Payables: This includes interest payable and accrued expenses payable for which the carrying amount is considered to be a reasonable 
estimate of net fair value.

NOTES TO ThE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ThE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009 
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT)

(c) Credit risk

The Credit Union’s maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date, to recognised 
financial assets is the carrying amount, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.

Concentrations of credit risk, where applicable, are identified in the notes to the relevant financial assets.

Credit risk in loans receivable is managed in the following ways:

•	 a	risk	assessment	process	is	used	for	all	Members,	and

•	 where	a	loan	to	value	ratio	exceeds	policy	limits	on	mortgage	secured	loans,	mortgage	guarantee	insurance	is	taken.

Collateral

The type and value of collateral required is dependent on the Credit Union’s internal policy limits and an assessment of the credit risk of 
the Member. The Credit Union’s policy stipulates acceptable types of collateral and the valuation requirements for each.

The main types of collateral used are mortgages over real estate and bills of sale over motor vehicles. Estimates of fair value are based 
on the value established at the time of borrowing and are not updated except where a loan in assessed as impaired.

Collateral taken as part of a collection process on impaired loans are disposed using independent auction process with proceeds used 
to reduce or repay the outstanding loan. The Credit Union does not use repossessed collateral for its own business use.

Analysis of past due but not impaired loans

Type Less than 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days More than 90 days Total

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Personal - 73 - - - - - - - 73

Mortgage 1,635 1,298 - - - - - - 1,635 1,298

Overdraft 729 1,146 - - - - - - 729 1,146

2,364 2,517 - - - - - - 2,364 2,517

Impairment Assessment

The Credit Union assesses loan impairment on both an individual and a collective basis. On an individual basis, a loan is classified as 
impaired where a payment is overdue more than 90 days or there is doubt over the collectability of future cash flows because of known 
difficulties or non-compliance with the terms and conditions of the contract.

On a collective basis, an assessment is made of the latent risks inherent in the portfolio. This assessment takes into account historic losses, 
economic and market conditions. The general reserve for credit losses is then kept at the higher of this assessment and 0.5% of risk 
weighted credit risk assets.

(d) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rate will affect future cash flows or the fair value of financial assets 
and liabilities.

The Board of the Credit Union has in place a market risk management policy which sets limits on the exposure to interest rate risk. The 
Credit Union actively manages the exposure through balance sheet techniques and may use derivative instruments such as interest rate 
swaps if it is likely that policy limits would be exceeded.

The Credit Union enters into interest rate swap agreements for the sole purpose of managing interest rate exposures on the balance 
sheet and not for trading purposes.

NOTES TO ThE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ThE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009 



31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT)
At balance date the following interest rate swap agreements existed: 

Fixed for floating interest rate swap contracts.

Average interest rate Fair value Notional principal amount

         2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

           %             % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Less than 1 year 7.79% 7.91 (180) 3 8,000 7,000

1 to 2 years 7.69% 7.76 (322) 35 7,000 13,000

2 to 5 years 7.69% 7.67 (623) 47 8,500 10,500

(1,125) 85 23,500 30,500

(e) Market risk sensitivity analysis

The Credit Union employs techniques such as gap analysis and sensitivity analysis to determine its exposure to interest rate risk. Sensitivity 
analysis is conducted on a quarterly basis using a 1% shift in the yield curve to determine the potential change in the market value of 
equity. The Board of the Credit Union has set limits on the exposure expressed as a percentage of capital. For market risk sensitivity 
analysis the Credit Union uses the APRA Prudential Standards definition of capital.

When conducting the analysis it is assumed that call deposits reprice daily. A negative figure indicates a decrease in the market value of 
equity, a positive value indicates an increase.

2009 2008

As % of capital $’000 As % of capital $’000

Market value of equity – Sensitivity to a 1% fall in interest rates 1.36 (222) 1.18 (239)

(f) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union will not be able to meet its payment obligations when they fall due.

APRA Prudential Standards require the Credit Union to hold a minimum of 9% of its liabilities in specified high quality liquid assets. 
The Credit Union’s internal policy requires a minimum ratio well above the 9% limit specified in the prudential standards. High quality 
liquid assets comprise cash, bank bills and certificates of deposit rated at investment grade and must be convertible into cash within  
2 business days.

The Credit Union does not take a position on interest rate movements but places high quality liquid investments to match the maturity 
structure of its liabilities.

Maturity analysis for financial liabilities based on their remaining contractual maturities is shown at Note 31 (a).

(g) Capital management

The Credit Union monitors the adequacy of its capital based on the requirement of APRA Prudential Standards.

APRA Prudential Standards require the Credit Union to maintain a minimum of 8% of capital to risk weighted assets at all time.  
The Credit Union’s internal policy target ratio is well above the Prudential Standard limit of 8% and includes elements for risk  
exposures such as market, operations, and credit risk.

The Credit Union conducts an annual risk assessment and based on the outcome of this assessment, capital levels are adjusted accordingly.

NOTES TO ThE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ThE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009 
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Directors’ Declaration

SERvICE ONE CREDIT UNION LIMITED
ABN 42 095 848 598

The Directors of Service One Credit Union Limited and of the consolidated entity declare that:

1. The financial statements and notes related thereto:

a. Comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001; and

b. Give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2009 and performance for the period ended on that date 
of the Credit Union and of the consolidated entity.

2. In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Credit Union will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

J C Clarke E M Adriaanse

Chair Chair – Audit and Compliance Committee

Dated this 14th day of August 2009.



independent auditor’s Report to the members 
of service one Credit union limited

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Service One Credit Union Limited (“the company”) which comprises the 

balance sheet as at 30 June 2009, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the 

year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the Directors’ declaration of 

the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entity it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the 

financial year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR ThE FINANCIAL REPORT
The Directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance 

with the Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. 

This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 

the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 

Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to 

audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from 

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. 

The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the 

entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit 

also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

INDEPENDENCE
In conducting our audit we have met the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We have given to the 

Directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a copy of which is included in the Directors’ Report. In 

addition to our audit of the financial report, we were engaged to undertake the services disclosed in the notes to the financial 

statements. The provision of these services has not impaired our independence.
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AUDITOR’S OPINION
In our opinion the financial report of Service One Credit Union Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

i giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Service One Credit Union Limited and the consolidated entity at  

30 June 2009 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

ii complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the  

Corporations Regulations 2001.

Ernst & Young 

Andrew Gilder

Partner

Canberra

14 August 2009





Administration Centre

Address 
75 Denison Street 
DEAKIN ACT 2600

Open  
Monday to Friday 9.00am to 5.00pm

Telephone Response Centre

Open  
Monday to Friday 8.00am to 5.30pm 
Saturday 9.00am to 12.00pm

Phone 
1300 361 761 

Fax 
(02) 6215 7171

Email 
members@somb.com.au

Web 
www.somb.com.au

Branches

•	 Australian National University
•	 Batemans Bay
•	 Belconnen
•	 Bemboka
•	 Brindabella Business Park
•	 Calvary Hospital
•	 Civic
•	 Cooma
•	 Deakin
•	 Gungahlin (360o living store)
•	 Queanbeyan
•	 The Canberra Hospital
•	 Tuggeranong
•	 Tumut
•	 University of Canberra
•	 Woden
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